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Key figures at a glance

Change
in % 10/11 1) 09/10 1)  08/09 2)  07/08 06/07

Operating figures CHF m

Orders received 7.6 415.2 385.9 254.1 553.5 586.6

Orders backlog 26.1 188.0 149.1 110.1 220.1 237.7

Net Sales 6.6 360.2 337.9 338.2 569.2 520.4

Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 31.7 22.8 -11.8 56.1 49.9

Operating profit (EBIT) 17.0 0.8 -38.3 33.9 25.8

Net earnings 12.1 -11.9 -47.7 20.1 11.8

Return figures in %

EBITDA margin  8.8 6.8 -3.5 9.9 9.6

EBIT margin 4.7 0.2 -11.3 6.0 5.0

Net return on sales 3.4 -3.5 -14.1 3.5 2.3

Cash flow and balance sheet statistics CHF m 

Cash flow from operating activities 25.3 17.8 -4.6 64.0 36.6

Cash flow from investing activities -13.2 -2.4 -8.2 -29.1 -28.5

Free Cash Flow 12.1 15.4 -12.7 34.9 8.1

Total assets -0.6 323.5 325.6 371.7 475.3 460.4

Equity 5.4 143.8 136.4 142.3 204.6 191.3

Liabilities -5.0 179.7 189.2 229.4 270.7 269.1

Net debt -16.9 41.9 50.4 64.8 57.9 88.0

Equity ratio 44.4% 41.9% 38.3% 43.1% 41.5%

Key figures per share CHF

Earnings per share (undiluted) 15.83 -15.54 -65.87 28.93 19.34

Dividend per share 4.00 3) 0 0 6.50 7.50

Equity per share 188.54 178.94 186.79 282.59 269.01

Other

Number of employees at year-end  
(excl. apprentices) 4.7 1 360 1 299 1 388 1 820 1 801

1) Only continuing operations; without Afag- and BalTec, without Muhlemann AG
2) Only continuing operations; without Muhlemann AG
3)  Board of Directors’ proposal



Gearshift linkage components for state-of-the-art DSG transmissions

Through its successful long-term partnership with Volkswagen, Feintool designs and manufactures 

tools and fineblanking systems for gearshift linkages of direct-shift gearboxes.



THIS IS FEINTOOL. As world market leader in fineblanking 

technology, Feintool is the only global supplier to offer its 

customers the entire process of fineblanking, from engineering 

through tool design to the mass production of fineblanking 

components.

Besides its core technology of fineblanking/forming, Feintool 

also offers reliable assembly automation with its IMA brand.
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Major order from Bosch

2010 |11

May 2011
MAJORITY SHAREHOLDING 
ACQUIRED BY ARTEMIS

On 31 January 2011, Artemis 
Beteiligungen III AG, which is 
controlled by Franke Artemis Hold-
ing, a company owned by Michael 
Pieper, announced a public take-
over bid for Feintool International 
Holding AG. This was concluded 
on 7 April 2011, with the acqui-
sition by Artemis of a majority 
shareholding totalling 81.2% of the 
share capital.

March 2011
BOSCH PUTS ITS FAITH IN NEW 
XFT SERVO PRESSES

The significantly improved pro-
ductivity of the new generation of 
XFT servo presses prompted our 
longstanding customer Bosch Trans-
mission Technology B.V. of Tilburg 
(Netherlands) to successively replace 
its existing systems. Bosch ordered 
two new XFT systems for compo-
nents manufacturing for continu-
ously variable transmissions (CVT) in 
March, and proceeded to order four 
more systems in September 2011.

JUNE 2011
SALE OF NON-CORE 
BUSINESSES 

Disposal of the remaining Plastic/
Metal activities in the US as well 
as the Afag and BalTec companies 
(in March) results in a substantial 
streamlining of the portfolio and 
simplification of structures.
This allows Feintool to concentrate 
on its core business.

Key Events
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New Feintool System Parts production site in Taicang (CN)

September 2011
CUSTOMER EVENT FOR 
FINEBLANKERS 

More than 60 of the world‘s 
leading fineblankers attended the 
8th Circle Meeting, which was 
held in Lyss in September. Under 
the theme of “OEE – the key to 
success”, Feintool – along with ex-
ternal speakers – aimed to provide 
customers with new ideas on how 
fineblanking technology can be 
used to enhance productivity.

August 2011
FEINTOOL WINS MAJOR ORDER 
FROM ZF IN USA

ZF chose Feintool as the supplier 
of key components for its next-
generation 8-speed automatic 
gearbox. Feintool is to supply 12 
different fineblanking components 
for the gearbox, for which ZF is 
building a new plant in the USA. 
Production commences in 2013.

September 2011
NEW FEINTOOL PLANT IN  
TAICANG (CHINA)

Construction of the infrastructure 
at the site in Taicang was virtually
concluded at the end of the 
financial year and the first orders 
already booked. Following the 
requisite sampling and approval 
processes, series production using 
four fineblanking systems will com-
mence in spring 2012.

Biggest single US order for Feintool 



We are delighted to report a pleasing business performance in the financial year 2010/11. 
Feintool faced some extensive measures and events that in some cases had a significant 
effect on the company.

PUBLIC TAKEOVER BID FOR FEINTOOL COMPLETED
On 31 January 2011, Artemis Beteiligungen III AG, a holding company controlled by Michael 
Pieper, launched a voluntary tender offer for all Feintool shares. The takeover was officially 
concluded on 7 April 2011 with the announcement that 81.2% of the shares had been ten-
dered to Artemis Beteiligungen III AG. During the process, the founding family had decided 
to sell its entire shareholding. The move marks the end of an era for Feintool. In this context 
Monika Loeffel-Boesch, as representative of the founder’s family, stepped down from the 
Board of Directors. The Board and the management acknowledged with great respect this 
far-reaching decision by the founder and his family thanking them for their very valuable 
contribution which was based on a relationship of trust.

The Swiss entrepreneur Michael Pieper confirmed that Feintool will continue in the same 
direction as an independent, full-service company listed on SIX Swiss Exchange. He affirmed 
the strategy developed over the last two years and his confidence into the existing management 
team. With a clear majority shareholder structure, Feintool will systematically pursue the 
strategy adopted by the Board of Directors.

CONCERN FOLLOWING NATURAL AND NUCLEAR DISASTER IN JAPAN
We are fortunate to report that neither our 100 employees nor their families were directly 
affected by the disaster that occurred on 11 March 2011. At no point did our production site 
in Tokoname, near Nagoya, suffer any damage or restrictions on its operations. At the Atsugi 
plant near Tokyo, a region that was more seriously affected, disruption to transportation and 
goods deliveries was quickly overcome. Following a 45% drop in sales in the first few months 
after the incident, the situation has been largely stable again since August 2011. By October 
2011, sales and earnings had returned to their pre-disaster levels. 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE DEVELOPMENTS ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ballooning government debt in the US and some eurozone countries triggered currency 
turbulence on a hitherto unseen scale in the year under review. The virtual parity reached 
between the Euro and Swiss franc in August represented a peak. The impact of the crisis 
naturally left its mark on Feintool’s consolidated financial statements, but is largely confined 
to the conversion of the foreign subsidiaries’ statements into the Swiss franc-denominated 
consolidated financial statements. As production at our sites in the USA, Japan and Germany 
is largely destined for the respective market, the Group is currently benefiting in overall terms 
from its internationally broad-based added value. 

 Ladies and Gentlemen,
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ALEXANDER VON WITZLEBEN 
Chairman of the Board of Directors

HEINZ LOOSLI 
Chief Executive Officer
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GLOBAL TRENDS GUIDE OUR DIRECTION
In the automotive industry, which is important to Feintool, worldwide production of passenger 
cars will grow by more than 40% over the coming six years according to IHS Global Insight. 
In terms of drive systems, the share of internal combustion engines is forecast to be at 70% 
by 2030, with hybrid engines accounting for nearly 30%. Pure electric engines are unlikely to 
occupy much more than a niche position.

The reduction in fuel consumption and CO
2
 emissions remain core themes. At around 50%, 

the engine and transmission technology offer the greatest potential for savings. A further 10-
20% is being achieved by measures designed to reduce the overall vehicle’s weight.

The automotive industry is encouraging the development of more efficient, smaller engines, 
as well as the lightweight construction of vehicle components in high volumes with simulta-
neously high quality. With its fineblanking and forming technology, Feintool is magnificently 
positioned to profit from these trends. New growth opportunities are opening up for us, for 
instance in the manufacturing of lightweight sheet-metal formed parts that are increasingly 
replacing heavy cast and forged parts.
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STRONGER FOCUS FACILITATING INVESTMENT PROGRAMME
Based on the strategy adopted by the Board of Directors in 2010, Feintool is focusing on its 
strengths and investing wherever opportunities for global market leadership appear. 

The sale of the remaining Plastic/Metal activities in the USA as well as the BalTec and Afag 
companies has already resulted in a substantial streamlining of the portfolio and simplifica-
tion of structures. The proceeds are being used to pay off debt and to support an investment 
programme in the core business. This enabled  – together with strong cash flow – a boost in 
investments to CHF 33 million, following a high degree of caution in the two preceding years. 
In previous periods total investments were averaging CHF 15 to 20 million.

Feintool is using this investment to ramp up its development of new, higher-performance 
fineblanking presses, extend its service offering, complete new, economical production lines 
for high-volume fineblanking and forming specialties, as well as expand its market position 
in China. Feintool will start series parts manufacturing at its new production plant in Taicang 
(China) in the beginning of 2012, enabling it to benefit in future from one of the world’s 
fastest-growing automotive markets.

Alongside this organic growth, we are also planning to continue our expansion in the medium 
term through strategic acquisitions. Over the next few years, annual sales should regularly 
exceed CHF 500 million.

ORDERS SHOW VERY STRONG DEVELOPMENT
The global boom in the automotive industry had a significant impact on Feintool in the 
2010/11 financial year. The order situation developed very well in the parts as well as capital 
goods area. Orders received increased to a total of CHF 415 million, and the orders backlog 
grew accordingly to CHF 188 million. The Fineblanking Technology segment itself recorded 
a high level of orders received at CHF 129 million, thereby guaranteeing capacity utilization 
well into the 2012 financial year.

Orders received in the Automation segment showed a similarly positive development. As a 
result, the orders backlog corresponds with one year’s output. In the series parts business 
of the System Parts segment, Feintool benefited from high and stable order volumes. The 
successful acquisition of multiple large orders – including components for a new generation 
of gearboxes – promises high volumes for the years starting in 2013. 
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RISE IN SALES DESPITE STRONG SWISS FRANC
Feintool generated sales of CHF 360 million in its continuing businesses – representing a 
rise of 7%. While the parts business matched the previous year’s level in Swiss franc terms, 
the late-cyclical segments of Fineblanking Technology and Automation significantly boosted 
their sales in this currency. Together, all segments recorded encouraging growth. In local 
currency, Feintool grew even by 16%.

SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN EARNINGS
In the second half of the financial year, all segments and regions of the Feintool Group 
saw a return to positive EBIT. This is all the more pleasing given that the development also 
includes the US operation, which was constantly loss-making in previous years, as well as 
the disaster-affected Japanese operations. Despite all the currency turbulence, the Swiss 
operations also made a positive contribution.

Thanks to very high rates of capacity utilization in all areas, the Fineblanking Technology 
segment increased its EBIT from a breakeven result in the previous year to a positive figure 
of more than CHF 10 million. After adjusting for the high share of internal sales in the year 
under review, this left CHF 7.6 million at Group level.

The System Parts segment was also able to virtually double its EBIT to CHF 13 million 
despite the currency turbulence, the Japanese disaster and the development cost of its new 
production plant in China. This was helped in particular by the fact that operations in the USA 
were profitable in the second half of fiscal 2010/11 for the first time in years.

The Automation segment ended the financial year with an EBIT margin of 7.8%, which is 
impressive by sector standards.

FINANCIAL POSITION STABLE AGAIN
At 44%, the equity ratio was strong in the year under review. Net debt fell to CHF 42 million 
as at 30 September 2011. We now intend to exploit this situation in order to secure long-
term financing for the Group – as the current financing arrangement expires at the end of 
2012.
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OPTIMISTIC OUTLOOK DESPITE GLOBAL ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTIES
The pleasing results achieved despite currency influences underscore the ongoing positive 
trend enjoyed by the Feintool Group. With full order books, innovative new services and a 
healthy capital structure, the business is well equipped to cope with forthcoming challenges. 
We expect a slight normalization of the sector’s current strength, but in overall terms are 
optimistic about the new financial year despite the uncertainties on the markets.
As a result of the strong financial year 2010/11 the Board of Directors will propose to the  
Annual General Meeting that a dividend of CHF 4.00 per registered share be paid. 

From 31 December 2011, Feintool is to adjust its financial year to the calendar year. For 
the period from 1 October to 31 December 2011, we expect the level of business to remain 
similar to that in the two preceding quarters. The short year will nevertheless be affected by 
the cost of adjusting the financial year, as well as the smaller number of working days at year-end 
compared with other quarters. For the 2012 calendar year, we expect consolidated sales of 
CHF 350-390 million and an EBIT margin of between 4 – 6% based on an exchange rate of 
1.20 CHF/€ and 0.80 CHF/$.

In conclusion, we wish to thank you – our customers and shareholders – for the trust placed 
in us, as well as our employees for all their hard work. We owe a special word of gratitude 
to our Japanese colleagues, who responded to the disaster with exceptional commitment, 
demonstrated courage and persistence, and in that way were able to minimize the impact on 
our business.

Alexander von Witzleben
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Heinz Loosli
Chief Executive Officer
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“I don’t buy a machine, but the whole, complete 
service. That includes tool design and tool-making, 
operations training and other after-sales services. 
Moreover, Feintool teaches us about the latest tech-
nologies, enabling us to make parts better and more 
efficiently. This valuable, complete service is really 
what we are paying for, and the payback is worth-
while.”

Fine business with fineblanking. 

Yukihiro Sera
President and CEO of Sera (Japan) and Siam Sera FB (Thailand)
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Professional service around the globe 
Siam Sera in Thailand uses Feintool systems to produce components for passenger-car exhaust systems. Feintool 
not only sells presses and tools but also provides comprehensive related services around the globe. This offering 
represents an important competitive advantage for our customers.
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Key figures

Margin
2010/11  

CHF m
2009/10  

CHF m

Orders received 128.8 103.3

Orders backlog 40.4 31.1

Sales 109.8 69.5

EBIT 9.2% 10.1 0.8
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Europe: 74.0% 

North America: 4.3%  

Asia and rest of world: 21.7%

Sales by region 
in %

1
2
3

FEINTOOL FINEBLANKING TECHNOLOGY Global 
market leader for fineblanking and forming tech-
nology supplies unique one stop solutions com-
prising presses, tools and peripheral systems.
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ONE STOP FINEBLANKING SOLUTIONS
Besides a wide range of fineblanking systems, Feintool offers suitable peripheral and tool 
systems, advice and engineering plus comprehensive customer service. The difference 
compared with conventional blanking lies in the precision of the process, as well as the 
combination of fineblanking and forming. Fineblanking makes the series production of 
complex, ready-to-install metal components highly economical. This is particularly attractive 
to an automotive industry looking for economies of scale.

>  Innovations spur demand for fineblanking systems

>  Customer event provides new ideas on enhancing productivity

>  Great interest in new related services 

Our range of fineblanking systems

Our range of services

Servicing Tooling technologyPrototyping Peripherals



18 | 

FINEBLANKING IS THE FUTURE
The automotive sector – our most important market with a 90% share of sales – demon-
strated exceptionally strong growth and major innovative capacity in the 2010/11 financial 
year. Fineblanking technology meets the needs of current sector trends towards reduced 
fuel consumption and lightweight construction.

The potential is highlighted by the example of shift-fork parts for direct-shift gearboxes (title 
image) for Europe’s biggest carmaker, VW. Using fineblanking technology, these compo-
nents are manufactured on a more cost-effective basis than using conventional methods.

Toolmaker Michael Erb assembles a new fineblanking press
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INNOVATIONS SPUR DEMAND FOR FINEBLANKING SYSTEMS
Through a series of innovations, Fineblanking Technology is spurring the demand for 
fineblanking systems. These innovations include a new parts outfeed for speeds of up to 
120 press strokes per minute. Using this innovative solution, fineblanked parts can be 
removed from the high-performance presses introduced in the previous year in an entirely 
undamaged state. Moreover, a fast, secure evacuation system was developed for especially 
heavy and complex parts.

With their mechanical and hydraulic servo drive, the new press systems significantly 
increase process reliability and enable users to increase stroke rates by up to 50% – even 
with existing conventional tools. Thanks to an energy recovery system, the XFT line of 
mechanical servo presses also makes it possible to reduce energy consumption in parts 
manufacture by 20%.

These advantages prompted leading customers to replace their uneconomical fineblanking 
presses. Following its entirely positive experience with two new XFT systems, Bosch, for 
instance, immediately ordered four more systems. Feintool is strengthening its commitment to 
research and development with the objective of bringing a significant innovation to market 
every two years.
 
PROTOTYPING CAPTURES NEW APPLICATIONS
A key task of prototyping and tool-making is the capture of new fineblanking applications. 
New solutions are constantly expanding the process limits. For instance, Feintool has 
developed manufacturing solutions for seat adjusters made from high-strength steel that 
help further reduce the weight of components in the vehicle. Another project deals with the 
cost-efficient manufacturing of key elements of fuel cells. In one of a series of 22 strategic 
group-wide projects, Feintool worked on an expansion of its services on all aspects of the 
rapid, reliable delivery of tool components.

FEINTOOL SERVICES – UNIQUE IN THE WORLD
Our related services around the globe give us a crucial competitive advantage. Feintool has 
continued to build on this strength. The focus is on increasing overall equipment effective-
ness (OEE). Through our preventative inspections, customers are able to avoid unscheduled 
system downtime and raise their productivity. A number of key customers are already ben-
efiting from this comprehensive service, maintenance and inspection offering. A new online 
shop for consumables and press spare parts has also been set up.

CUSTOMER FINEBLANKING EVENT PROVIDES NEW IDEAS 
More than 60 fineblankers from around the globe attended the 8th Circle Meeting, held 
at our head office in Lyss in September. Under the theme of “OEE – the key to success”, 
Feintool – along with external speakers – helped maintain customer relationships by provid-
ing new ideas on fineblanking technology.
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“Modern security systems in vehicles need to meet the 
highest standards. Only the most advanced technologies 
are up to the task. Fineblanking produces a completely flat 
part with clean, right-angled cut surfaces with no torn or 
chipped edges.”

Technologies for your safety.
 

Hendrik Lang
Toolmaker
Promera Jena Feinschneid- und Umformtechnik GmbH, Jena (Germany)

Segment Reports  System Parts | 21  
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Locking parts for airbag ignition mechanism
At its Promera Jena plant in Germany, Feintool manufactures an extremely high-quality component – 
designed to lock the ignition container of an airbag on a gas-tight basis for at least seven years – for  
automotive supplier TRW.
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Key figures

Margin
2010/11  

CHF m
2009/10  

CHF m

Orders received 252.9 259.3

Orders backlog 104.1 91.7

Sales 230.0 233.1

EBIT 5.8% 13.3 6.9
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FEINTOOL SYSTEM PARTS World leader in series 
production of precision fineblanked and formed 
components for seat adjusters and drive techno-
logy in cars. 
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Feintool System Parts is a globally operating partner for economical parts manufacturing 
using fineblanking and forming. Feintool supplies its discerning automotive industry custom-
ers around the globe from eight highly efficient production plants. A key component of 
Feintool‘s success is its wide-ranging technology and manufacturing expertise, enabling it 
to provide comprehensive advice on cost-optimized part design. 

FOCUSED ON GLOBAL BEST-IN-CLASS MANUFACTURING OF SPECIALIZED APPLICATIONS
In the parts business, Feintool concentrates on the three key areas: seat, drive and safety. 
This strategic specialization results in greater efficiency, allowing even the most demanding 
solutions to be implemented on a highly economical basis. Systems Parts consequently suc-
ceeded in extending its market position in these focal areas and attracted further prestigious 
customers. In the next few years Feintool will manufacture specialized products in high 
volumes for these global operators. In particular, the products include components for new 
automatic gearboxes in Europe and the USA.

> Business levels in Europe and USA above expectations

>  Restructuring in North America takes effect

>  New factory in China

Seat drive Safety
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Toolmaker Matthias Keller at the Cincinnati site with specimen part and tool for a new project
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HIGHLY PRODUCTIVE MANUFACTURING FACILITIES IN EUROPE, ASIA AND AMERICA
In the USA and Europe, Feintool System Parts possesses the world’s most state-of-the-
art manufacturing facilities for gearbox discs. In Japan, its factories are leaders in the 
manufacturing of seat adjusters. System Parts currently utilizes 73 fineblanking systems 
worldwide, and in the year under review invested in eleven new systems. This means that 
Systems Parts’ installed machine base is among the youngest in the world.

RETURN TO POSITIVE OPERATING RESULT IN THE USA 
Assisted by a comprehensive restructuring programme over the last two years, Feintool 
achieved a return to positive business results in the USA. The product portfolio was stream-
lined and infrastructure improved. The full effect of these measures will unfold in 2012. At 
present, results are still suffering from a low rate of capacity utilization at the plant in Ten-
nessee. Following the successful acquisition of multiple large-scale projects, there will be a 
sustained improvement in the situation here too from 2013 onwards. For instance, gearbox 
specialist ZF relies on Feintool fineblanking and forming technology to produce disc carriers 
for its 8 and 9-speed automatic gearboxes.

NEW SITE IN TAICANG 
The ultra-modern infrastructure of the site at Taicang, near Shanghai, is nearing completion 
and the first orders have already been received. Following successful conclusion of the req-
uisite sampling processes in the automotive industry, series production is expected to start 
up in spring 2012 and will initially concentrate on existing international customers operating 
in China. In organizational terms, all three plants in Asia have also been placed under a 
single management team in order to maximize exploitation of synergy effects.
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Bernd Werkshagen
Head of Operating and Systems Technology
Günther Spelsberg GmbH + Co. KG, Schalksmühle (Germany)

“As a specialist in particularly high-quality, durable  
enclosures technology, Spelsberg attaches the utmost 
importance to quality and precision in manufacturing.  
Through outstanding cooperation, IMA has not only  
met our requirements with its automation solution but 
actually surpassed them.”

Reliable partner for discerning customers.
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Solar connection box for solar roof panels 
On behalf of our customer Günther Spelsberg GmbH + Co. KG (Germany), IMA developed a “comb-drive trans-
portation system” that assembles and inspects solar connection boxes fully automatically. The key technology 
involved is the seamless insertion of three freewheeling diodes into the connection box. The IMA solution enabled 
a halving of the manufacturing cycle time and thus a doubling of output for Spelsberg.
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The new Monte Rosa Alpine refuge in Valais (Switzerland) with solar roof
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Key figures

Margin
2010/11  

CHF m
2009/10  

CHF m

Orders received 66.9 45.1

Orders backlog 43.4 26.3

Sales 46.8 40.2

EBIT 7.8% 3.7 2.8
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IMA AutoMAtIon Leading specialist in high-value, 
reliable assembly automation.
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BODY OF EXPERTISE FROM MORE THAN 30 YEARS’ EXPERIENCE
IMA Automation implements the widest array of automation solutions for demanding  
assembly applications in the automotive industry, consumer goods sector, medical 
technology as well as photovoltaics.

FURTHER SPECIALIZATION IN THE PROMISING ALTERNATIVE ENERGIES MARKET
The share of sales attributable to photovoltaics continued to expand at the site in Berlin 
(Germany). Here, IMA specialized in automation solutions for the manufacture of solar 
modules. In addition to specialized systems for soldering solar cells (known as “stringers”), 
IMA is now successfully marketing systems for the manufacture of solar connection boxes. 
The share of sales attributable to photovoltaics increased to more than 50%. Our expertise 
in this area enabled us to win new customers from among the industry’s leading suppliers. 
Profitability was significantly improved due to high rates of capacity utilization and the new 
product mix.

MARKET SHARE GAINS
In Amberg (Germany), IMA concentrates on specialized assembly systems for small and 
ultra-small components. IMA initially recorded only partial utilization of its capacity owing to 
the difficult situation in the previous year. However, this was more than offset in the second 
half of the financial year. Customers are focusing increasingly on automation in a bid to put 
their existing production sites on a more competitive footing and further reduce costs. The 
segment also benefited from insolvencies among competitors.

In the automotive sector, the segment participated successfully in the current sector trend 
towards raising the efficiency of combustion engines. For instance, IMA supplied assembly 
and testing technology for the manufacture of newly developed gearbox control systems. 
However, strategically important projects were also won in the hygiene products and medi-
cal technology areas. With its own cleanroom assembly technology in particular, IMA is 
ideally placed to meet the requirements of this market. The record orders backlog provides 
the basis for strong profitability in the 2012 financial year.

>  Specialized in forward-looking niches

>  Record order situation

>  Expansion of market share



HUMAN RESOURCES Focus on people.  

Josh Younce, training young toolmakers at the Cincinnati (Ohio) site in the USA

Fineblanking Technology: 17.9% (prev. year 17.8%) 

System Parts: 62.1% (prev. year 63.4%)

Automation: 20.0% (prev. year 18.8%)

Employees by segment
in % (out of total of 1 360, without apprentices)

1
2
3

Environment/safety/ISO/TS: 19.6%

Management/leadership: 25.1%

IT/SAP: 5.4%

Overview of training and development 
in %

1
2
3
4

Specialist certificate and training (job-specific): 49.9%

Europe: 60.8% (prev. year 60.6%)

USA: 31.0% (prev. year 31.9%)  

Asia: 8.2% (prev. year 7.5%)

Employees by region
in % (out of total of 1 360, without apprentices)

1
2
3

34 | 



Human Resources | 35  

>  Attractive employer

>  Dual system of vocational training in USA too

>  Learning from the best

FEINTOOL – AN ATTRACTIVE EMPLOYER
Even in the current, very favourable economic situation, Feintool’s good reputation enabled 
it to succeed in attracting additional highly qualified employees around the globe. At 4.4%, 
unwanted staff turnover was encouragingly low by sector standards. Given that we operate in 
an environment dominated by experience and expertise, this helps us meet the high quality 
standards expected of us. The rate of absence was only 3.5%. Feintool promotes the health 
of its employees through various targeted programs, including participation in the Swiss-wide 
“Besser Gsund” health campaign.

DUAL SYSTEM OF VOCATIONAL TRAINING IN USA TOO
Internal training and development is a focal point for human resources. Feintool takes a 
target-oriented approach to improving the quality of its products and services. This is de-
signed to foster the corporate culture, international cooperation, as well as social skills and 
leadership quality, on a sustained basis. Around the world, Feintool is currently training 78 
apprentices to become multiskill technicians, toolmakers, automation technicians and sales 
specialists. Feintool apprentices regularly feature among the trainees with the best marks. 
In a pilot project conducted as part of our apprenticeship programme, German apprentices 
for the first time underwent four weeks’ practical training in toolmaking and maintenance 
with their colleagues in Switzerland. Based on favourable feedback, Feintool plans to arrange 
foreign placements for all apprentices in the longer term.

Since 1987, toolmakers at the US site in Cincinnati have received training based on the 
exemplary Swiss system of vocational education. Feintool’s strong reputation and expertise 
in the USA enable it to select the best school-leavers for the programme. Feintool is proud of 
the fact that it can continue to employ two thirds of those who complete their training. That 
other companies send their young employees to Feintool for training underscores the quality 
and uniqueness of the training.

LEARNING FROM THE BEST
Feintool fosters international exchange among employees and encourages them to constantly 
improve their skills. The company helps them gather international and intercultural professional 
experience as well as acquire new professional perspectives. In accordance with best practice, 
our primary objective is to utilize the available knowledge and skills from all our sites on a 
worldwide basis.

The development of our presence in China resulted in an increasing number of employees 
being posted abroad during the year. Cooperation between the sites in Japan and China was 
also intensified. For this purpose, Feintool standardized its rules on worldwide foreign as-
signments and brought them into line with current requirements. A large number of toolmak-
ers, multiskill technicians, project managers and IT specialists were consequently placed on 
short-term assignments abroad. We are delighted that Feintool’s own specialists from Japan 
and Switzerland are happy to bring their expertise to bear at the new plant in China over several 
years.



TECHNOLOGIES FOR A BETTER FUTURE
For some years, the automotive sector has been experiencing far-reaching upheaval. Fuel 
efficiency, CO

2
 limits and hybrid vehicles are gaining significantly in importance. Manufactur-

ers and suppliers are being asked to make their products more environment-friendly. In close 
cooperation with customers and partners, Feintool is helping to shape new technologies. State-
of-the art automatic transmissions, made using Feintool technology, reduce fuel consumption 
by up to 25%. Downsized, supercharged engines and more efficient diesel injection systems 
rely on Feintool components. Fineblanking technology is replacing cast and blanked parts in 
many areas due to weight and cost benefits. In this way, Feintool is helping to reduce the envi-
ronmental harm caused by car traffic. Many Feintool components also contribute to road safety: 
reliable seat adjusters, seat belt tensioners and airbag components can save lives. Finally, 
Feintool systems constitute a long-term, durable investment. They create sustained value for 
customers and end-users over many years.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Feintool takes ecological, economic and social  
responsibility for its operations, and is aware of  
the consequences of entrepreneurial action.
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ACTIVE ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AT FEINTOOL
Feintool campaigns actively for a sustained improvement in its environment. Environmental 
management systems based on the international industry standard ISO 14001 are in place 
at nearly all sites and are continuously being developed. Environmental teams examine the 
opportunities for optimization at our plants on a regular basis. Through information events and 
campaigns, Feintool is also raising environmental awareness among its employees in all areas.

PARTICIPATION IN ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECTS
Feintool has been participating in the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) since 2010, and signifi-
cantly increased the detail of its contribution in 2011. The CDP manages the world’s biggest 
database of greenhouse gas emissions and provides information on the strategies companies 
are using to respond to climate change. Feintool emphasizes this transparency in the interests 
of customers, investors and partners, as well as that of the general public. See www.cdproject.
net for more details.

KEY ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS FOR FEINTOOL GROUP AT A GLANCE*

 

 

CODE OF CONDUCT ANCHORED AT GROUP-WIDE LEVEL
The respect and confidence that customers, suppliers, business partners, shareholders and 
the general public have in Feintool essentially depends on the fair, responsible conduct of all 
employees. The Feintool Group has set out the key pillars of its philosophy in its public Code of 
Conduct. 
Acceptance and compliance with the Code of Conduct is reviewed by the General Counsel and 
backed up by training. Visit our website at www.feintool.com and find out more about our com-
mitment in the field of corporate social responsibility.

> Technologies for more environment-friendly vehicles

>  Participation in Carbon Disclosure Project optimized

>  Environmental performance detailed in numbers

Consumption 2010/11 2009/10

Energy  MWh 49 785 55 078

Water m3 46 599 44 218

Fineblanking oil m3 532 473 

Steel and other fineblanking materials t 72 560 66 926

Output 2010/11 2009/10

Fineblanked parts m units 1 378 1 049

Scrap & waste metal t 33 525 35 198

Emulsions and waste oil m3 1 530 1 177

Household, paper and hazardous waste t 301 299

CO2 emissions t/CO
2
-e 24 496 29 162

*Figures exclude Taicang (China) as well as IMA sites in Amberg and Berlin (Germany)



Share price 2010/11 2009/10

High (15.02.2011) CHF  370.00 349.50

Low (10.01.2011) CHF 306.50 220.00

Closing price (30.09.2011) CHF   320.00 346.50

Stock market capitalization  (30.09.2011) CHF m 244.4 264.7

Key figures 30.09.2011 30.09.2010

Registered shares par value CHF 50 763 870  763 870  

Nominal share capital CHF m 38.2 38.2

Operating profit per share 1)  2) CHF 22.31 1.00

Net earnings per share (undiluted) 1)  2) CHF 15.83 -15.54

Equity capital per share CHF 188.54 178.94

Dividend per share CHF 4.00 3) 0.00

Free float % 9.7 29.6

1)  Only continuing operations
2)  Based on the average number of shares (762,638; previous year: 762,365)
3)  Board of Directors‘ proposal

FEINTOOL SHARE A well-informed market is 
important to us.

Feintool share price performance in financial year 2010/11 
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Feintool International Holding AG has been listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange in Zurich since  
17 August 1998, and the Feintool registered share is a constituent of its Swiss Allshare Index.

MAJORITY SHAREHOLDING ACQUIRED BY ARTEMIS BETEILIGUNGEN III AG
On 31 January 2011, Artemis Beteiligungen III AG, which is controlled by Franke Artemis Hold-
ing and therefore by the Swiss industrialist Michael Pieper, announced a public takeover bid for 
Feintool International Holding AG of CHF 350 per registered share. The share price subsequently 
rose to the offer level. As well as Fritz Boesch, the company’s founder and second principal 
shareholder, numerous shareholders decided to tender their shares. By the time the tender 
period ended on 7 April 2011, Artemis III had successfully acquired an absolute majority with 
81.2% of Feintool shares.

FEINTOOL RETAINS ITS STOCK MARKET LISTING
The acquisition resulted in the free float falling to 9.7%, and the number of shareholders in the 
company fell from 1,656 to 543. However, new majority shareholder Michael Pieper is to retain 
the company’s stock-exchange listing. The aim is to significantly increase the free float over the 
medium term and therefore make trading in the stock more attractive again.

Further detailed information on the share and other IR-relevant information can be found on our 
website (www.feintool.com) under Investor Relations. Information on our major shareholders can 
also be found in the Corporate Governance section, as well as in the financial section of this 
report (page 102).

> Majority shareholding acquired by Artemis Beteiligungen III AG

>  Feintool retains its stock market listing

Shareholder structure
Number of shares                                      Number of shareholders 30.09.2011 30.09.2010

763 870 543 1 656

1 to 10 256 585

11 to 100 247 892

101 to 1 000 34 157

1 001to 10 000 2 14

more than 10 000 4 8
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FEINTOOL GROUP All key figures show encou-
raging trend: increase in orders received and sales 
despite negative currency movements. EBIT rises to 
CHF 17.0 million. Significant fall in net debt to CHF 
41.9 million.  
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Financial Review
as at 30 September 2011

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

General 
Unless a separate note indicates otherwise, the financial 
review refers to continuing operations. The consolidated 
balance sheet and statement of comprehensive income 
include all units of the Feintool Group. The discontinued 
units comprise the Plastic/Metal Components segment, 
as well as the riveting machines manufacturer BalTec 
and components manufacturer Afag in the Automation 
segment. The Swiss properties in Biberist and Huttwil 
are no longer used for operations, and are thus also 
included under discontinued operations.

Orders received and orders backlog
Orders received by the Feintool Group improved again 
in the reporting period, rising by 7.6% compared with 
the prior-year figure (CHF 385.9 million) to CHF 415.2 
million. The euro and US- dollar weakness reduced this 
by a substantial CHF 40.5 million. At constant exchange 
rates, the Feintool Group achieved growth of 18.1%.

The orders backlog of the Feintool Group amounted 
to CHF 188.0 million as at 30 September 2011, an in-
crease of 26.1% compared with the previous year (CHF 
149.1 million). All segments benefited from the recovery, 
albeit to a varying degree.

The Fineblanking Technology segment recorded a 
significant increase in orders received. Feintool won 
numerous orders for tools and fineblanking presses, 
in particular in Europe and Asia. In total, orders in the 
Fineblanking Technology segment were 24.7% up on the 
previous year (CHF 103.3 million) at CHF 128.8 million. 
The orders backlog improved to CHF 40.4 million (previ-
ous year: CHF 31.1 million), which equals to six to eight 
months’ worth of orders in hand. The orders backlog 
only includes the long-term press and tools business.

In the reporting currency, orders received by the System 
Parts segment stabilized at CHF 252.9 million (previ-
ous year: CHF 259.3 million). On a currency adjusted 
basis, orders received were up by 9.1%. While the 
USA saw an increase in orders received to CHF 109.1 
million (+20.2% on a currency adjusted basis), Europe 
recorded a decline to CHF 105.2 million. The fall was 
exclusively attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates. 
On a currency adjusted basis, orders received in Europe 
were on a par with the previous year’s level. Owing to 
the natural disaster and accompanying reduction in 
orders on the part of some customers, Japan suffered 
a decline to CHF 37.9 million (-4.8% on a currency 
adjusted basis). The orders backlog for the segment 
as a whole rose from CHF 91.7 million to CHF 104.1 
million, representing an increase of 13.6%. Our sites in 
Europe therefore ended the fiscal year on a par with the 
previous year’s level. The Feintool companies in Japan 
and the USA posted a significant increase.

On a currency adjusted basis, the Automation busi-
ness – which is mainly focused on Europe – saw orders 
received grow by 68.0% to CHF 66.9 million during the 
reporting year (previous year: CHF 45.1 million). The 
orders backlog increased by 65.3% to CHF 43.4 million. 
This gives the Automation segment orders in hand of 
around 12 months. 

Net sales 
Consolidated sales amounted to CHF 360.2 million, 
an increase of 6.6% compared with the previous year 
(CHF 337.9 million). The fall in the value of the euro and 
the US dollar reduced Swiss franc sales by CHF 32.9 
million. On a currency adjusted basis, Feintool therefore 
recorded a sales growth of 16.3%. Within the segments, 
System Parts generated 63.8% of the Group’s third 
party sales (previous year: 69.0%), Fineblanking Tech-
nology 23.2% (previous year: 19.1%) and Automation 
13.0% (previous year: 11.9%). This breakdown reflects 
the recovery in the Fineblanking Technology segment in 
the reporting year. Due to the sale of Afag and BalTec, 



the Automation segment contributed only slightly more 
than 10% of Feintool’s sales.

Sales in the Fineblanking Technology segment increased 
by 58.0% to CHF 109.8 million (previous year: CHF 
69.5 million). The late-cyclical press business recovered 
towards the end of the previous financial year, thus 
impacting fully on sales in the 2010/11 reporting year. 
Fineblanking Technology sold presses worth CHF 26.3 
million (previous year: CHF 5.1 million) to other Feintool 
companies. Excluding the investment in the System 
Parts segment, Fineblanking Technology sales grew by 
29.8% to CHF 83.5 million.

The System Parts segment stabilized at a high level 
during the financial year, generating overall sales of CHF 
230.0 million (previous year: CHF 233.1 million). On a 
currency adjusted basis, this represents an increase of 
9.9%. European business increased by 4.1% (13.4% 
on a currency adjusted basis) to CHF 102.2 million. 
Business in the USA showed a decline of 2.1% to CHF 
91.9 million. On a currency adjusted basis, US business 
grew by 14.2%. The increase is all the more remarkable 
given the fact that small and loss-making orders were 
transferred to other manufacturers in the context of the 
restructuring plan. Disposal of the remaining business 
activities of the former Plastic/Metal Components seg-
ment also influenced the results for the USA. Sales in 
Japan fell by 12.8% to CHF 36.0 million owing to the 
natural disaster and attendant shortfall in orders.

The regional breakdown of System Parts sales hardly 
changed at all. Europe rose slightly to 44.4% (previous 
year: 42.1%), while the USA exhibited a share of 40.0% 
(previous year: 40.2%). For the reasons mentioned 
earlier, the Asia share – which is heavily influenced by 
Japan – fell slightly to 15.6% (previous year: 17.7%).
Owing to long lead times, the increase in orders 

received by the Automation segment had only a limited 
impact on sales. They increased by 16.3% to CHF 46.8 
million (previous year: CHF 40.2 million). On a currency 
adjusted basis, there was an increase of 31.1%.

In total, the Feintool Group generated CHF 205.6 million 
or 57.1% from third party sales in Europe (previous 
year: 50.7%). At CHF 84.5 million, US sales declined 
to 23.7% (previous year: 25.6%). The Asia share fell to 
CHF 70.1 million or 19.4% (previous year: 23.5%). At 
CHF 13.0 million or 3.6%, the Swiss market continued 
to lose significance for Feintool. In the previous year, 
domestic sales amounted to CHF 18.8 million or 5.6%.

Gross margin
The gross margin increased by 2.7 percentage points 
year on year to 35.1%. Based on volumes, gross profit 
was up by CHF 7.2 million. The CHF 9.8 million pro-
ductivity improvement is made up of numerous, partly 
offsetting factors. In the Fineblanking Technology seg-
ment, the margin declined due to the high intercompany 
share. However, the margin for third party business was 
constant at 38.5%. In the System Parts segment, the 
gross margin climbed to 34.6% overall (previous year: 
31.5%). Productivity continued to increase especially 
in the US. The margin remained largely unchanged in 
Europe, while in Japan it declined due to additional 
expenditure following the natural disaster.
The Automation segment increased the gross margin by 
2.6 percentage points to 30.4% through good capacity 
utilization; this was despite delivery of some projects 
with inadequate margins stemming from the crisis 
period. The gross margin in this segment will likely 
continue to increase over the coming months. 

42 | 



Financial Review of the Feintool Group 2010/11  Business Performance | 43  

Significant expense items
Indirect personnel costs fell by around CHF 1.7 million 
to CHF 53.3 million. In terms of sales, this expense 
item therefore fell marginally to 14.8% (previous year: 
15.3%). Operating, sales and administration expenses 
increased by CHF 6.4 million to CHF 41.5 million or 
11.5% of sales (previous year: 10.4%). Maintenance 
costs rose by CHF 5.7 million due to the high rates of 
capacity utilization at all production sites. As part of its 
current investment programme, Feintool is replacing a 
large number of older, maintenance-intensive presses; 
consequently, we expect a reduction in maintenance 
costs in the new financial year. The public tender offer 
from Artemis Beteiligungen III AG caused costs amount-
ing to CHF 0.3 million.

Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tization (EBITDA) rose by CHF 8.9 million or 39.0% to 
CHF 31.7 million in the reporting year.

Depreciation and impairment
Depreciation decreased to CHF 14.7 million (previous 
year: CHF 19.3 million). Last year’s restructuring of 
property, plant and equipment, as well as the impair-
ment of property, plant and equipment reduced annual 
depreciation in the USA by around CHF 1 million. The 
translation of local financial statements into the report-
ing currency (Swiss franc) reduced the depreciation fig-
ure by a further approximately CHF 1 million. Our largest 
production sites in Germany and the USA accounted for 
the biggest share of depreciation. 

Operating profit (EBIT)
Sales growth, rigorous management of indirect costs 
and the gross profit improvement due to increased 
productivity resulted in an operating profit (EBIT) of 
CHF 17.0 million, compared with CHF 0.8 million a year 
ago. This gives Feintool an EBIT margin of 4.7%. The 
negative currency impact on EBIT was CHF 2.9 million. 
All segments generated a positive operating result. The 
Fineblanking Technology segment reached an operat-
ing profit of CHF 10.1 million (previous year: CHF 0.8 
million). Excluding intercompany orders for the System 
Parts segment, the result still came to CHF 7.6 million 
(previous year: CHF 0.1 million). System Parts improved 
its operating result to CHF 13.3 million (previous year: 
CHF 6.9 million). All regions contributed to the positive 
result. At CHF 10.0 million, Europe accounted for the 
largest share of EBIT. Thanks to a successful reorgani-
zation, the USA generated a positive operating result for 
the first time in years (CHF 0.5 million). Asia contributed 
CHF 2.9 million to the result. This figure was adversely 
affected by Japan, but also by the fact that develop-
ment of our production site in Taicang (China) resulted 
in costs that could not yet be offset by income. The 
Automation segment generated an operating profit of 
CHF 3.7 million (previous year: CHF 2.8 million). Costs 
other than those incurred by the operating segments fell 
by 27.6% year on year to CHF 7.6 million.



Net financial income/finance costs
At CHF 4.5 million, net finance costs improved by 
around 50% compared with the previous year. Due to 
the considerably lower average net debt as well as more 
favourable interest terms, net interest and other financial 
expense declined by CHF 2.8 million to CHF 4.7 million. 
Despite the high level of volatility in exchange rates, 
Feintool generated a small foreign exchange gain of 
CHF 0.2 million (previous year: loss of CHF 1.6 million). 
Gains on USD loans compensated for losses incurred at 
operating level. The latter were attributable in particular 
to sales in the eurozone.

Taxes
The results posted by the Feintool companies varied 
enormously from region to region. While the US com-
panies operated at a loss, some of the Feintool sites in 
Europe and Japan generated substantial profits again. 
This resulted in significant tax charges. Owing to posi-
tive business operations and future prospects, however, 
previously unutilized loss carryforwards from earlier 
periods amounting to CHF 3.6 million were recognized. 
This resulted in tax expense of CHF 0.5 million (previous 
year: CHF 3.5 million) for the Feintool Group in overall 
terms.

Net income from continuing operations
Net income from continuing operations therefore 
amounted to CHF 12.1 million, against a loss of CHF 
11.8 million in the previous year. This development 
reflects the operational improvements in the individual 
segments as well as the intended strategic focus on the 
core business.

Discontinued operations
Feintool sold off the riveting machine manufacturer  
BalTec and components manufacturer Afag in the re-
porting year. These disposals produced a net income of 
CHF 2.3 million. In addition, BalTec and Afag contrib-
uted CHF 1.4 million in terms of operating result prior to 
the disposals. A CHF 4.8 million writedown was required 
on the property in Biberist (Switzerland), however. This 
loss was partly mitigated by the disposal of a smaller 
property in Aarberg (Switzerland). The loss from dis-
continued operations therefore totalled CHF 0.4 million 
(previous year: net income of CHF 9.6 million).

Net income 
Net income amounted to CHF 11.7 million (previous 
year: loss of CHF 2.2 million), representing a net return 
on sales of 3.2%.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

With business performing well in operational terms, 
most balance sheet items improved. Total assets were 
almost unchanged year on year at CHF 323.5 million 
(previous year: CHF 325.6 million). Strong growth for 
the segments operating in the capital goods sector led 
to a significant increase in some balance sheet items. 
The disposal of Afag and BalTec reduced a number 
of items, however. All in all, these two factors largely 
cancelled each other out. 

On the assets side, current assets rose by CHF 10.8 
million to CHF 167.4 million. The main reason was the 
reclassification to current assets of the properties in 
Biberist (Switzerland) and Huttwil (Switzerland), which 
are no longer used for operations (CHF 19.0 million). 
On the other hand, there was a decline in cash and 
cash equivalents (CHF -7.8 million), trade receivables 
(CHF -1.3 million) and prepaid expenses and accrued 
income (CHF -2.6 million). Inventories and net assets 
of construction contracts rose by CHF 3.4 million as a 
result of the good level of business. Despite a consider-
able increase in sales, net working capital – adjusted for 
the company disposals – rose by only CHF 2.2 million 
overall to CHF 46.5 million or 12.9% of sales.  

Non-current assets fell by CHF 12.8 million in total to 
CHF 156.1 million. Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets declined by CHF 22.8 million. The 
reductions due to divestments and reclassification 
of the properties no longer used for operations (CHF 
19.0 million) exceeded the high level of investment in 
operations of CHF 32.0 million which were CHF 16.1 
million higher than the depreciation on operating assets. 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
declined not only in value terms: the machinery included 
is also significantly newer and more efficient on average 
following the substantial investment. Financial assets 
increased by CHF 4.2 million to CHF 7.9 million. The 
reason for this increase was the deferral of interest-

bearing purchase price receivables amounting to CHF 
4.6 million from the company disposals. The positive de-
velopment of earnings enables loss carryforwards from 
previous years to be capitalized, resulting in a doubling 
of deferred tax assets to CHF 8.1 million.

On the liabilities side, current liabilities increased by 
CHF 9.4 million to CHF 157.9 million. The main reason 
for this development was the increase in prepayments 
received from third parties. In addition, the two most 
important bank loans (CHF 120 million syndicated loan 
and CHF 22.0 million real estate loan) expire on 31 
July 2012. These loans are therefore shown in cur-
rent liabilities. Feintool’s management is in negotia-
tions with all banks regarding follow-up facility of the 
same magnitude. Tax liabilities, accrued expenses and 
deferred income and current provisions fell slightly (CHF 
3.4 million).

Non-current liabilities fell significantly from CHF 40.6 
million to CHF 21.8 million. The decrease can be at-
tributed in full to the repayment/reclassification of non-
current financial liabilities.

Net debt fell in the reporting period from CHF 50.4 mil-
lion to CHF 41.9 million. The income generated by com-
pany disposals thanks to the strategic focus exceeded 
the high level of investment.

Equity stood at CHF 143.8 million at 30 September 
2011 (previous year: CHF 136.4 million) and the equity 
ratio increased from 41.9% to 44.4%. The statement of 
changes in equity shows that equity increased by CHF 
11.7 million owing to the operational business. However, 
this was reduced by CHF 4.9 million due to exchange 
rate losses recognized directly in equity.
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Sales by region 
in %

Europe: 57.1% (previous year 50.7%) 

America: 23.5% (previous year 25.6%)  

Asia/Rest of the world: 19.4% (previous year 23.7%)

1
2
3

Automotive: 83.3% (Vorjahr 82.4%) 

Others: 14.8% (previous year 13.8%)  

Elektronics/Telecoms: 1.9% (Vorjahr 3.8%)

Sales by sector
in %

1
2
3

Fineblanking Technology: 23.2% (previous year 19.1%)

Automation: 13.0% (previous year 11.9%)  

System Parts: 63.8% (previous year 69.0%) 

Sales by segment 
in %

1
2
3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities showed a strong 
inflow of CHF 25.0 million. The CHF 2.2 million increase 
in net working capital had only a marginal influence 
on this development. Due to the discipline applied in 
managing inventories and receivables, the increase was 
less than the rise in sales.

During the fiscal year Feintool started with a CHF 30.3 
million investment initiative (previous year: CHF 7.4 mil-
lion). Investment was therefore around twice as high as 
the depreciation on operating assets. Feintool disposed 
of several companies and parts of the business, on the 
other hand, enabling the Group to raise CHF 16.1 mil-
lion. In total, Feintool realized an operating cash inflow 
of CHF 12.1 million. The cash outflow from financing 
activities of CHF 16.8 million reflects Feintool’s efforts 
to reduce its loans, and thus its interest charges, as 
quickly as possible. Taking into account the foreign 
exchange losses of CHF 3.2 million and the aforemen-
tioned items, the overall result was a decline in cash 
and cash equivalents of CHF 7.9 million (previous year: 
CHF 8.9 million).
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for financial year 2010/11 (1 October 2010 to 30 September 2011)  

Note
2010/11
CHF 1,000 in %

 restated* 

2009/10
CHF 1,000 in %

Continuing operations
Net sales 1 360 213 100.0 337 910 100.0

Material cost -179 913 -174 441

Direct labour cost 2 -53 810 -53 987

Gross margin 126 490 35.1 109 482 32.4

Indirect personnel expenses 2 -53 276 -51 551

Operating expenses 3 -27 763 -22 393

Administration and sales expenses 4 -15 884 -17 476

Other operating expenses 5 -1 525 -3 285

Other operating income 6 3 661 8 039

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (EBITDA) 31 703 8.8 22 816 6.8

Depreciation and amortization 13, 14 -14 687 -19 329

Operating profit before impairment losses 17 016 4.7 3 487 1.0

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and  
intangible assets 13, 14 0 -2 727

Operating profit (EBIT) 17 016 4.7 760 0.2

Finance costs          7.1 -28 097 -29 035

Financial income 7.2 23 625 19 960

Earnings before taxes 12 544 3.5 -8 315 -2.5

Income taxes 8 -473 -3 530

Net income from continuing operations 12 071 3.4 -11 845 -3.5

Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 27 -405 -0.1 9 630 2.8

Net income of the Feintool Group 11 666 3.2 -2 215 -0.7

Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes

Translation differences -4 856 -3 781

Total comprehensive income of the Feintool Group 6 810 -5 996

* See Note 27.
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* See Note 27.

Note
2010/11
CHF 1,000 

 restated* 

2009/10
CHF 1,000 

Net income of the Feintool Group attributable 
to Feintool Holding shareholders  11 666 -2 215

Total comprehensive income of the Feintool Group 
attributable to Feintool Holding shareholders 6 810 -5 996

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 9 15.30 -2.91

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 9 15.30 -2.91

Basic earnings per share from 
continuing operations (in CHF) 9 15.83 -15.54

Diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations (in CHF) 9 15.83 -15.54

EBIT

Continuing operations  17 016 760

Discontinued operations 27 -2 858 11 128

Total EBIT of the Feintool Group 14 158 11 888

Number of employees

Number of employees excl. 78 (previous year: 77) apprentices 1 360 1 299



ASSETS
Note

30.09.2011
CHF 1,000 in %

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000 in %

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents    24 319 32 169

Trade and other receivables 10 69 790 71 077

Tax receivables 377 354

Inventories          11 23 862 26 080

Net assets of construction contracts     12 28 222 22 569

Prepaid expenses and accrued income    1 775 4 351

Assets held for sale 13 19 039 0

Total current assets 167 384 51.7 156 600 48.1

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment          13 130 670 145 786

Intangible assets     14 7 747 15 461

Financial assets          15 7 867 3 666

Deferred tax assets    16 8 128 4 063

Employee benefit plans 20 1 716 0

Total non-current assets 156 128 48.3 168 976 51.9

TOTAL ASSETS 323 512 100.0 325 576 100.0

Consolidated Balance Sheet
for financial year 2010/2011 (as at 30 September 2011) 
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LIABILITIES
Note

30.09.2011
CHF 1,000 in %

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000 in %

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities 17 56 783 53 768

Trade and other payables 18 72 018 62 263

Tax liabilities 2 299 2 525

Accrued expenses and deferred income 23 435 25 344

Current provisions 19 3 368 4 645

Total current liabilities 157 903 48.8 148 545 45.6

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 17 9 477 28 797

Non-current provisions 19 2 892 2 305

Deferred tax liabilities 16 4 488 4 169

Employee benefit plans 20 4 968 5 341

Total non-current liabilities 21 825 6.8 40 612 12.5

Total liabilities 179 728 55.6 189 157 58.1

Equity 21

Share capital 38 193 38 193

Capital reserves 93 533 93 155

Retained earnings 39 367 27 701

Treasury shares -223 -400

Translation differences -27 086 -22 230

Total equity 143 784 44.4 136 419 41.9

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 323 512 100.0 325 576 100.0



Note
2010/11
CHF 1,000  

2009/10
CHF 1,000 

Net income of the Feintool Group 11 666 -2 215

Depreciation and amortization        13, 14 15 875 20 779

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13, 14 4 833 2 727

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment -847 -808

(Gain)/loss on disposal of discontinued operations 27 -3 509

(Gain)/loss on disposal of other consolidated investments -662 0

Change in provisions and valuation allowances 19 -517 -27 343

Change in deferred taxes   8 -3 745 311

Other non-cash items       4 405 -869

Cash flows from operating activities 
before change in NWC    27 499 -7 418

(Increase)/decrease in net working capital (NWC) -2 181 25 170

Cash flows from operating activities 25 318 17 752
  

Investments in property, plant and equipment     13, 29 -30 266 -7 404

Disposals of property, plant and equipment    1 689 5 147

Investments in intangible assets     14 -678 -861

Disposals of intangible assets 102 6

Change in financial assets (net) -194 720

Disposal of consolidated investments, net of cash disposed of 16 124 0

Cash flows from investing activities -13 223 -2 392

Free cash flow 12 095 15 360

Purchase of treasury shares 21.3 -783 -127

Sale of treasury shares 21.3 998 283

Repayment of interest-bearing liabilities -16 990 -20 973

Cash flows from financing activities -16 775 -20 817

Translation differences -3 170 -3 460

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -7 850 -8 917

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 32 169 41 086

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 24 319 32 169

Taxes paid 2 192 1 842

Interest paid 3 707 6 091

Interest received -661 -1 489

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

       

CHF 1,000
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares
Capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Translation 
differences Total equity

1 October 2009 38 193 -647 93 246 29 916 -18 449 142 259

Total comprehensive income – – – -2 215 -3 781 -5 996

Purchase/sale of treasury shares – 247 -91 – – 156

30 September 2010 38 193 -400 93 155 27 701 -22 230 136 419

1 October 2010 38 193 -400 93 155 27 701 -22 230 136 419

Total comprehensive income – – – 11 666 -4 856 6 810

Purchase/sale of treasury shares – 177 38 – – 215

Group Management share ownership plan – – 340 – – 340

30 September 2011 38 193 -223 93 533 39 367 -27 086 143 784

The Group Management share ownership plan comprises partial payment of the annual salary in shares. See Note 28.1.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
as at 30 September 2011

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Feintool International Holding AG, Industriering 8, 3250 
Lyss, is a public limited company under Swiss law with 
its headquarters in Lyss (Switzerland) („Company“). The 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year 
ended 30 September 2011 include the Company and its 
subsidiaries („Feintool“). The forward-looking technol-
ogy company with a global focus is world market leader 
in fineblanking systems, fineblanking components and 
automation technology. Feintool is the only international 
supplier to offer its customers the entire process of 
fineblanking, from engineering through tool design to the 
mass production of fineblanking and forming components. 
In addition, Feintool offers reliable automation systems 
under the IMA brand.

As a global partner with a strong regional presence, Fein-
tool operates in the world‘s biggest automotive markets 
with sites in Europe, Asia and America. The company 
employs a total of about 1,400 people and is training 
nearly 80 apprentices.

GENERAL

The consolidated financial statements for financial year 
2010/11 are based on the financial statements of the 
Group companies as at 30 September 2011, which 
were prepared in accordance with uniform accounting 
policies.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with Swiss company law and with the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
The accounting principles of the SIX Swiss Exchange 
Listing Regulations have also been observed. In the 
management’s opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on 
a going-concern basis under the historical cost conven-
tion, with the exception that derivative financial instru-
ments are measured at fair value. The consolidated 
financial statements contain assumptions and estimated 
amounts which affect the amounts reported. The actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

RESTATEMENT

Owing to the disposal of various Group companies (see 
“Basis of consolidation”), the Financial Review for the 
previous year had to be adjusted to reflect the discon-
tinued operations. Therefore, a comparison of figures 
for previous years with the 2009/10 annual report is no 
longer given.

CHANGE TO FINANCIAL YEAR
(PRELIMINARY INFORMATION)

At its meeting of 30 August 2011, the Board of Directors 
decided that the financial reporting period, which until 
now ended on 30 September, should in future cor-
respond to the financial year of its main shareholder, 
Artemis Beteiligungen III AG. As of 1 January 2012, 
Feintool will therefore report on a calendar-year basis. 
The transitional phase will see an abridged financial 
year for the period from 1 October 2011 to 31 Decem-
ber 2011.

NEWLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Various new IFRS requirements had been issued at the 
end of the reporting period, but were not yet effective. 
They essentially involve the following changes:
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IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments.
This Standard is effective from 1 January 2013 and 
incorporates new requirements on specific areas of 
accounting for financial instruments. It will replace the 
old IAS 39. Existing rules relating to measurement will 
be simplified. In future, financial instruments will be 
measured either at fair value or at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. Other issues include an 
option to measure assets at fair value, reclassification 
and investments in equity instruments. Feintool will 
apply this Standard starting in financial year 2013, but 
does not expect it to have any significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements.
This Standard, which is effective from 1 January 2013 
and supersedes IAS 27 and SIC 12, establishes prin-
ciples for the presentation and preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements when an entity controls one 
or more other entities. It essentially defines the principle 
of control, and establishes control as the basis for con-
solidation. It also sets out the accounting requirements 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 
Feintool will apply this Standard starting in financial year 
2013, but does not expect it to have any significant ef-
fect on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements.
This Standard is effective from 1 January 2013 and su-
persedes IAS 31 and SIC 13. The core principle of IFRS 
11 is that a party to a joint arrangement determines 
the type of joint arrangement in which it is involved by 
assessing its rights and obligations and accounts for 
those rights and obligations in accordance with that type 
of joint arrangement. Feintool will apply this Standard 
starting in financial year 2013, but does not expect it to 
have any significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.
This Standard is effective from 1 January 2013 and its 
objective is to require the disclosure of information that 
enables users of financial statements to evaluate the na-
ture of, and risks associated with, its interests in other 
entities and the effects of those interests on its financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. Feintool 
will apply this Standard starting in financial year 2013.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
This Standard, which is effective from 1 January 2013, 
defines fair value and sets it out in a single framework. 
IFRS 13 applies when another IFRS requires or permits 
fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value 
measurements. Feintool will apply this Standard starting 
in financial year 2013, but does not expect it to have 
any significant effect on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures.
This amendment to the existing Standard is effective 
from 1 January 2011 and in particular includes a more 
detailed definition of related parties. Feintool will apply 
this amendment in the abridged financial year running 
from 1 October to 31 December 2011 (see “Change 
to financial year”), but does not expect any changes in 
relation to its previous statements.

IFRIC 14 – Prepayments for Minimum 
Funding Requirements.
The amendment to the Interpretation, effective from 1 
January 2011, allows an entity in some circumstances 
to recognize as an asset prepaid contributions to defined 
benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19. Feintool will 
apply this amendment in the abridged financial year 
running from 1 October to 31 December 2011 (see 
“Change to financial year”), but does not expect any sig-
nificant effect on the consolidated financial statements.



IFRS 7 – Transfer of Financial Assets.
This disclosure, which is effective from 1 July 2011, 
governs the information and disclosures required for a 
better understanding of the relationship between trans-
ferred financial assets. Feintool will apply this amend-
ment in the abridged financial year running from 1 Oc- 
tober to 31 December 2011 (see “Change to financial 
year”), but does not expect any significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements.

IAS 12 – Recovery of Underlying Assets.
This amendment is effective from 1 December 2012 
and defines whether the carrying amount of an asset is 
recovered through use or sale. Feintool will adopt the 
amendment in financial year 2012, but does not expect 
it to have any significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income
This amendment is effective from 1 July 2012 and 
defines the terminology and classification of the state-
ment of comprehensive income. Feintool will adopt the 
amendment in financial year 2013, but does not expect 
it to have any significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits.
This amendment of IAS 19, which is effective from  
1 January 2013, introduces various changes. The 
amendment requires recognition of changes in the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) including immediate 
recognition of defined benefit cost, disaggregation of 
defined benefit cost into components, recognition of 
remeasurements in other comprehensive income, plan 
amendments, curtailments and settlements. It introduc-
es enhanced disclosures about defined benefit plans. It 
modifies accounting for termination benefits, including 

distinguishing benefits provided in exchange for service 
and benefits provided in exchange for the termination of 
employment and affects the recognition and measure-
ment of termination benefits. Miscellaneous issues are 
also clarified, including the classification of employee 
benefits, current estimates of mortality rates, tax and 
administration costs and risk-sharing and conditional 
indexation features. Feintool is currently examining the 
effect on its consolidated financial statements. The 
change from the corridor approach to the OCI approach 
will have a significant negative effect on the Group’s 
equity. The changes from the amended IAS 19 standard 
will be applied in financial year 2013.

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements.
This Standard is effective from 1 January 2013 and 
now solely comprises amendments concerning separate 
financial statements. Consolidated financial statements 
are now governed by IFRS 10. Feintool will adopt the 
amendments in financial year 2013, but does not expect 
them to have any significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
This amendment, which is effective from 1 Janu-
ary 2013, prescribes the accounting for investments 
in associates and sets out the requirements for the 
application of the equity method when accounting for 
investments in associates and joint ventures. Feintool 
will adopt the amendments in financial year 2013, but 
does not expect them to have any significant effect on 
the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the following Standard was published that 
has no significant effect on the Feintool Group’s finan-
cial position, results of operations or cash flows:

> IFRS 1: First-time Adoption of IFRS – Severe Hyperin-
 flation.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

With the exception of the newly issued or revised Stan-
dards and Interpretations that have become effective, 
the accounting policies are the same as those applied in 
the previous year. 

The following changes, which do not have any material 
effect on the Feintool Group’s financial position, results 
of operations or cash flows, either because they are 
purely disclosure requirements or because they have no 
practical significance, were effected by Feintool as of  
1 October 2010:

>  IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of IFRS – Additional  
 Exemptions for First-time Adopters.
> IFRS 2 – Amendment – Group Cash-settled 
 Share-based Payment Transactions.
> IAS 32 – Classification of Rights Issues.
> IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities.
> Annual Improvements.

KEY ESTIMATES

The consolidated financial statements contain assump-
tions and estimated amounts which affect the amounts 
reported. The actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Intangible assets/goodwill: The fair value of intangible 
assets is estimated at the date of acquisition. Any re-
sidual value (difference between the purchase price and 
fair value of net assets acquired) represents goodwill. 
Most intangible assets acquired have a finite life and 
therefore are amortized. Goodwill has an indefinite 
life and is not amortized, but instead tested annually 
for impairment. The allocation of the residual value to 
other intangible assets and goodwill at the acquisition 

date therefore has an effect on amortization in subse-
quent periods. When testing goodwill for impairment, 
various estimates are made which require medium and 
long-term (terminal value) estimates. This relates to 
both internally projected data (cash flow, growth rates, 
etc.) and external parameters (discount rate). Further 
information is given in Note 14.

Property, plant and equipment: Items of property, plant 
and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Feintool regularly reviews whether the 
depreciation period chosen at the time matches the ac-
tual useful life, or capacity utilization rate, of the item of 
property, plant and equipment. If significant differences 
between the depreciation period and useful life are 
identified, the depreciation period is reduced accord-
ingly. If the expected cash flows no longer cover future 
depreciation, impairment losses are recognized.

Current tax receivables and deferred tax assets:  
Feintool is liable to taxation in various jurisdictions. 
Provisions for income taxes incurred worldwide are 
based on estimates. In the case of many transac-
tions and calculations in its ordinary business, the tax 
charge is uncertain. If actual tax charges differ from 
the estimated charges, the corresponding adjustment is 
recognized in the financial year in which the definitive 
assessment is made. Management considers the corre-
sponding estimates to be realistic and the correspond-
ing provisions to be appropriate. Deferred tax assets 
are recognized primarily for temporary differences and 
in some cases for tax loss carryforwards, but only if it 
is considered probable that they will be utilised. The 
recoverable amount of deferred tax assets recognized 
for loss carryforwards is therefore based on future 
forecasts for the relevant taxable entity over a period 
of several years. Should these future forecasts prove 
incorrect, amounts may change as a result. Further 
information is given in Note 16.



The following changes occurred in the consolidated 
Group in the reporting period:

On 21 March 2011, all companies in the BalTec Group 
(BalTec Maschinenbau AG, Pfäffikon [Switzerland]; 
BalTec UK Ltd, Reading [UK]; BalTec France, Bondoufle 
[France]; BalTec Corp., Canonsburg, [USA]) were sold to 
a group of Swiss investors. 

On 30 June 2011, a German investor acquired the Afag 
Group (Afag Automation AG, Huttwil [Switzerland], and 
Afag Automation GmbH, Amberg [Germany]).

Also on 30 June 2011, Feintool Plastic/Metal Compo-
nents Inc., Nashville (USA), was sold to a US investor.

In the context of various consolidations, Feintool dis-
solved or merged additional companies during the 
reporting period:

> On 31 August 2011, Heinrich Schmid Maschinen-  
 und Werkzeugbau AG, Jona (Switzerland), sold its  
 subsidiary Schmid Corporation of America, 
 Cincinnati (USA), to Feintool US Operations Inc.,  
 Cincinnati. Schmid Corporation of America was  
 then merged with Feintool Equipment Corp., 
 Cincinnati (USA), both of which are subsidiaries of  
 Feintool US Operations Inc., on 30 September 2011.
> The inactive companies Feintool France, Feintool UK  
 and Feintool Automation Hong Kong were liquidated  
 in the course of the reporting period.
> Feintool Italia was also liquidated during the 
 reporting period. Its staff are now employed at  
 Feintool Technologie AG Lyss.

Provisions: Feintool recognizes a provision if an obliga-
tion to a third party has arisen as a result of a past 
event, the obligation can be estimated reliably and an 
outflow of resources is probable. Provisions are recog-
nized for a number of possible events and are explained 
in detail in Note 19. By definition, however, they involve 
a higher degree of estimation than other items in the 
balance sheet, since the estimated obligations may 
result in a higher or lower outflow of resources depend-
ing on the outcome of the situation.

Employee benefit plans: Feintool operates defined 
benefit plans for its employees in two countries. Their 
status is in part based on long-term actuarial assump-
tions, which may differ from reality. Actuarial differ-
ences which exceed the “corridor” are amortized over 
the employees’ average remaining working lives. Both 
the status for the calculation and the amortization of 
any difference involve estimated amounts which affect 
the financial position and results of operations. Further 
information is given in Note 20.

Management and the Board of Directors believe the 
basis of planning and the assumptions to be realistic.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATIONS

The consolidated financial statements include the finan-
cial statements of Feintool International Holding AG, Lyss 
(Switzerland), and the financial statements of all Group 
companies in which Feintool International Holding AG 
directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting 
rights or which it otherwise controls (see page 106).
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Mühlemann AG, which had been in the process of 
liquidation, was deleted from the Commercial Register on 
26 October 2011. This brought the liquidation process to 
an end. 

Further information may be found in “Discontinued 
operations”.   

METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION

All companies which Feintool controls are fully con-
solidated. Assets and liabilities as well as income and 
expenses are therefore fully included in the consolidated 
financial statements. The share of equity and income 
attributable to non-controlling interests is presented 
separately in the consolidated balance sheet and income 
statement. Intercompany assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation, as are unreal-
ized intercompany gains on inventories or non-current 
assets.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in Swiss francs, with amounts rounded to the nearest 
thousand (CHF 1,000).

ACQUISITIONS AND GOODWILL

Newly acquired companies are consolidated using the 
acquisition method. The balance sheet and income 
statement are consolidated at the date on which control 
is obtained. The difference between the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties of the acquiree, on the one hand, and the cost of 
the acquisition, on the other, is recognized as goodwill. 
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. Goodwill 
is subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually by calculating 
the recoverable amount (higher of fair value less dis-
posal costs and value in use) of the relevant cash gener-
ating units or group of cash generating units. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment is recognized in the income statement.

When a Group company is sold or control over a Group 
company is lost, the difference between the selling price 
and the net assets sold (including goodwill), includ-
ing cumulative foreign exchange gains, is recognized 
in the income statement under either “Other operating 
income” or “Other operating expenses”. The company 
is deconsolidated on the date on which control over it is 
lost. 
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CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The functional currency of the consolidated entities 
is the currency of their local economic environment. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the 
respective daily rate. Monetary assets and liabilities 
in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency at closing rates. The resulting translation dif-
ferences are recognized in net financial income/finance 
costs. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at historical cost using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction.

On consolidation, the balance sheet amounts of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated at closing rates and the 
amounts in the statements of income and cash flows 
at average rates for the year. Translation differences 
arising on the different translation of balance sheets and 
income statements are recognized directly in the state-
ment of comprehensive income. When a Group company 
is sold or liquidated, or when control over the company 
is lost, the cumulative translation differences are reclas-
sified to the income statement as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal.

The Feintool Group used the following translation rates 
in the reporting periods: 
Foreign currency gains on certain equity-type loans 
that form part of the net investment in a company are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, 
provided settlement of these loans is neither planned 
nor likely to occur in the near future.

Closing rate Average rate Closing rate Average rate

Eurozone EUR 1 1.2190 1.2569 1.3273 1.4245

UK    GBP 1 1.4035 1.4483 1.5490 1.6413

USA USD 1 0.8990 0.9022 0.9785 1.0522

Japan     JPY 100 1.1750 1.1158 1.1733 1.1766

2009/102010/11
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Financial assets are initially measured at cost, including 
transaction costs, with the exception of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognized 
excluding transaction costs. All purchases and sales of 
financial assets are recognized on the trade date. 

Financial liabilities mainly include debt and trade pay-
ables, which are measured at amortized cost. Financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 
(derivatives) are stated at fair value.
Non-current financial liabilities are measured using the 
effective interest rate method. In addition to the actual 
interest payments, interest expenses therefore also 
include the amounts of annual interest cost and pro-rata 
transaction costs.

Financial guarantee contracts: Feintool sometimes pro-
vides financial guarantee contracts in connection with 
the sale of presses. The premiums collected are carried 
as a liability at fair value and reversed on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the contract provided there is no 
expectation of them being used, which would result in 
the recognition of a provision.

Financial assets are derecognized when Feintool cedes 
control, i.e. when the related rights are sold or expired. 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when repaid.

Feintool does not currently apply hedge accounting.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Feintool distinguishes between the following categories 
of financial assets and financial liabilities:

> Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss:
These are financial instruments acquired with a view to 
active management. All derivatives are classified under 
this heading. These assets are stated at fair value, and 
all fluctuations in their value are presented in net finan-
cial income/finance costs. The fair values of the deriva-
tive financial instruments are calculated by the banks.

> Loans and receivables:
These primarily comprise trade receivables and loans 
granted to third parties. They are measured at their 
nominal amount, or stated at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

> Held-to-maturity investments:
Investments are only recognized under this heading if 
the individual companies have the intention and ability to 
hold them to maturity. They are stated at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

> Available-for-sale financial assets: 
Financial instruments in this category are stated as 
assets at fair value, with fluctuations in their value 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
after taking account of any deferred taxes. They are only 
reclassified to the income statement on disposal of the 
financial instrument or in the event of impairment.



BALANCE SHEET

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash holdings, 
balances on postal and bank accounts as well as fixed-
term deposits with an original maturity not exceeding 90 
days from the date of acquisition. 

Trade and other receivables
This item contains accounts receivable from ordinary 
business activities. Bad debt provisions are calculated 
and recognized based on the actual risk of loss. This 
includes specific valuation allowances for doubtful 
receivables and a global valuation allowance for the as-
sumed credit risk. Other receivables are stated at their 
nominal amount less write-downs.

Inventories
Raw materials and purchased goods are stated at 
weighted average cost. Inventories with a low turnover 
and obsolete items are written down by an appropriate 
amount. Manufactured goods are stated at the cost of 
conversion including manufacturing overheads, but at 
no more than their net realizable values. Slow-moving 
goods are written down and goods which are no longer 
usable written off in full.

Net assets of construction contracts
This item includes all construction contracts less 
prepayments received and necessary allowances for 
identifiable risks. Construction contracts are accounted 
for using the percentage of completion (POC) method, 
provided the following conditions are met:

> The contract value is greater than CHF 500,000 or  
 the equivalent in foreign currency
> Revenues from the contract can be reliably 
 calculated
> It is likely that the economic benefit linked to the  
 construction contract will flow to the company
> Contract costs and the stage of completion of the  
 construction contract can be reliably measured

If these conditions are not met, the income is recog-
nized when the risks and rewards are transferred. If it is 
expected that the costs from a construction contract will 
exceed the contractually agreed income, the expected 
overall loss from the order is charged immediately and 
in full to the statement of comprehensive income.

The amount recognized in the balance sheet is therefore 
the amount determined by this method less prepay-
ments received. Sales are recognized by reference to 
the stage of completion.

Assets held for sale
These are assets whose carrying amounts will be recov-
ered through a sale rather than through use. Assets are 
only reclassified if the sale has been decided and is to 
be completed within one year. Such assets are no longer 
depreciated on a systematic basis, but are instead 
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less disposal costs.
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Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes any 
costs attributable to bringing the asset to the condition 
necessary for it to operate in the intended manner. Bor-
rowing costs are a component of cost if they are directly 
attributable to the asset. Subsequent maintenance costs 
are recognized in the carrying amount if the operational 
life is extended as a result or production capacity can be 
increased. Non-value enhancing maintenance work and 
repairs are recognized in the income statement. Com-
ponents of property, plant and equipment with different 
useful lives are recognized individually and depreciated 
separately. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life. As a rule, land is not 
written down. Impairments (see separate section) are 
recognized when the carrying amount no longer appears 
to be recoverable. Such impairments are presented 
separately. 

The following depreciation periods are applied:

Buildings: 20 to 40 years
Plant and equipment:  8 to 15 years
Vehicles: 3 to 5 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets primarily include goodwill, patents, 
software and certain development costs. The latter are 
only capitalized if the technical feasibility of completing 
an asset that is ready for market can be demonstrated, 
the costs can be measured reliably and the costs ap-
pear to be feasible based on the marketplace. Intangible 
assets are recognized at cost and amortized over their 
estimated useful life on a straight-line basis. Impair-
ments (see separate section) are recognized when the 
carrying amount no longer appears to be recoverable. 
Such impairments are presented separately. 

Intangible assets (with the exception of goodwill) have a 
finite life and are amortized as follows: 
  
Patents, brands:  max. 10 years
Capitalized development costs: max. 10 years
Software: 3 to 5 years

Impairment
The recoverable amount of assets (property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets) is reviewed when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets 
may be overvalued. In addition, the recoverable amount 
of goodwill is reviewed annually. If the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount (higher of fair value 
less disposal costs and value in use), it is immediately 
written down to the recoverable amount. When calculat-
ing value in use, future cash flows are discounted using 
a pre-tax discount rate. This discount rate reflects cur-
rent market estimates and risks specific to the assets in 
question.
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Leases (finance leases)
Finance lease arrangements where the risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer are 
recognized in the same way as normal purchases of 
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets. The 
asset and the corresponding lease liability are stated 
at the lower of fair value and the net present value of 
the lease payments owed. The leased asset is depreci-
ated over its useful life or the shorter term of the lease 
if there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will 
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease. Gains from sale and leaseback transactions that 
result in a finance lease are carried as a liability and 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Operating leases are not recognized in the balance 
sheet but are disclosed in the Notes. Lease payments 
are recognized in the income statement, with any ex-
traordinary elements (e.g. incentives at the beginning of 
the lease term) taken into account accordingly.

Financial assets 
Financial assets include loans granted to third parties 
and rental deposits. Depending on their nature (see 
“Financial assets and liabilities”), financial assets are 
stated at fair value or measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses on these 
financial assets are recognized in net financial income/
finance costs.

Current liabilities
Current liabilities are those with a remaining term to 
maturity of less than one year. The current portion of 
non-current liabilities is also included.

Accrued expenses and deferred income
Expenditures incurred in the period at the end of the 
reporting year, for which no receipts are available as yet, 
are recognized under accrued expenses and deferred in-
come. On the other hand, revenues received in advance 
in the period at the end of the reporting year for which 
no work has yet been performed are also recognized 
here. In the Feintool Fineblanking Technology seg-
ment, it is often the case that customers are billed for 
fineblanking presses without all supplier invoices having 
been received as yet or all contractually agreed work on 
the press having been performed.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized if (a) a present obligation to a 
third party has arisen as a result of a past event, (b) it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying eco-
nomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and (c) the amount of the obligation can be estimated 
reliably. No provisions are recognized for future operat-
ing losses.
Provisions are recognized for restructurings when the 
Group company has a constructive obligation to imple-
ment the restructuring as a result of communicating 
the plan to the individuals affected by it and provided 
the costs can be reliably determined on the basis of a 
detailed plan.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Under this method, the tax 
implications of temporary differences between carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements and 
the tax base are recognized as a non-current liability 
or asset. They are generally calculated on the basis of 
actual or expected local rates of tax. 
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Deferred tax liabilities are calculated for all taxable tem-
porary differences. Deferred tax assets, including those 
for tax loss carryforwards and expected tax credits, 
are only recognized if it is probable that profits will be 
available against which the loss carryforwards and tax 
credits can be utilized.

Changes in deferred taxes are recognized in the income 
statement except for deferred taxes on amounts recog-
nized directly in other comprehensive income, which are 
also recognized in other comprehensive income.

Share-based payment
Shares are issued to the Group management as part of 
the bonus at a contractually predefined amount. 

Employee benefit plans
The Group operates various employee benefit plans, 
which differ depending on the circumstances of the in-
dividual Group company. The benefit plans are financed 
through contributions made by the employer and/or 
the employee to state pension systems, separate legal 
entities (trusts, insurance companies) or through the 
accumulation of corresponding provisions in the balance 
sheet of the company itself.

In the case of defined contribution plans, the accrued 
expenses correspond to the agreed contributions by the 
Group companies. In the case of defined benefit plans, 
the costs are calculated by independent experts in the 
form of an actuarial report using the projected unit 
credit method. The calculations are updated periodi-
cally. Benefit plans operated by external providers are 
funded plans, while the agreed commitments of the 
Group companies themselves are unfunded plans. The 
liability carried consists of the defined benefit obligation 
as defined by the actuary, less any assets recognized 
at fair value and any unrecognized actuarial losses and 
past service cost.

A resulting net obligation is always carried as a liability. 
A net surplus is only carried as an asset to the ex-
tent that it represents potential benefits to the Group 
company after taking into account actuarial gains and 
losses. The expense recorded in the income statement 
is the actuarial calculation of the cost less contributions 
from employees. Actuarial gains and losses arise from 
the difference between assumptions and actual figures 
as well as from changes in the assumptions. Provided 
such cumulative differences do not exceed the 10% 
“corridor”, they are not amortized. Any amount exceed-
ing the corridor is systematically amortized over the 
average remaining working lives of employees.

Other long-term obligations to employees such as 
long-service awards or sabbatical leave programmes are 
recognized using the same methodology with the excep-
tion that no corridor is applied in this instance. These 
actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the income 
statement immediately and in full. 
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Equity 
Equity represents the residual value (assets less li-
abilities). Capital reserves result from premium pay-
ments made by shareholders, transactions involving 
treasury shares, employee options and the fair value of 
conversion rights at the time of issue. Retained earn-
ings comprise the income earned and retained by the 
Group. Acquisitions of treasury stock are deducted from 
equity at cost. Other payments from equity instruments 
(derivatives classified as equity) are also taken directly 
to equity.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Net sales
Net sales from the sale of goods and services are the 
sales revenues after taxes, credits and discounts. With 
the exception of construction contracts accounted for 
using the percentage of completion (POC) method, sales 
are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred (see “Construction contracts”).

Sales of goods include sales of machinery, tools, auto-
mation systems, fineblanked and formed parts, as well 
as spare parts. Service income comprises income from 
services performed on plant and machinery.

Other operating income
Other operating income includes gains on the disposal 
of property, plant and equipment as well as various 
smaller items of income, such as revenue from staff 
restaurants, IT costs charged to third parties and sub-
letting.

Gains on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 
are recognized when ownership and the incidental risks 
and rewards are transferred. Reversals of provisions no 
longer required are recognized when the item for which 
the provision was originally recognized no longer exists 
or it is no longer probable that this item will occur. The 
various smaller items of income are usually recognized 
periodically or after the service has been rendered.

Research & development
Order-related development costs are capitalized as work 
in progress, while other research and development costs 
are charged in full to the statement of comprehensive 
income in the year in which they are incurred. Develop-
ment costs for new products are capitalized only if a 
future economic benefit is obvious.

Interest
Interest is recognized using the effective interest 
method. Interest not yet received is recognized in 
prepaid expenses and accrued income at the end of the 
reporting period. Interest income is presented in the 
consolidated income statement as financial income.
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ECONOMIC RISKS

For the global economy going forward, we see risks 
primarily in changes in energy and commodity prices, 
growing protectionism and persistently large trade 
imbalances. The aforementioned factors could result in 
relatively sharp changes in exchange rates, in particu-
lar continuing weakness of the US dollar and the euro, 
and a further slowdown in global economic growth. 
The scenarios described could give rise to severe 
adverse effects for Feintool.

Financial risk management 
Financial risk management is based on the direc-
tives approved by the Board of Directors and Group 
Management. Besides standards for general financial 
risk management, these directives include standards 
for specific aspects of liquidity, interest rate, exchange 
rate and default risk management, the use of deriva-
tive financial instruments, capital procurement and the 
policy on investing surplus liquidity. Capital procure-
ment within the Group is mostly undertaken on a 
centralized basis.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk denotes the risk that the Feintool Group 
may at some point in future be unable to meet its 
regular payment obligations on time and in full. 
Feintool must ensure that the Group is able to meet its 
payment obligations at all times. This will be the case 
if sufficient funds can be generated by the cash flow 
from operating activities or if the necessary financial 
resources can be raised on the financial markets or 
from banking institutions. The management of the 
Feintool Group considers an operating liquidity reserve 
equivalent to one month’s costs of the Feintool Group 
(approximately CHF 25 million) to be adequate. This 

liquidity reserve can also be secured through unused 
credit lines. Management receives regular reports on 
the Group’s liquidity status as well as liquidity projec-
tions, giving it an overview of the liquidity situation.

The CHF 120 million syndicated loan and the CHF 22 
million mortgage financing facility both expire on 31 
July 2012. Feintool is in negotiations with all banks 
concerning a follow-up facility of the same magnitude. 
The Board of Directors and management are convinced 
that these negotiations will be brought to a success-
ful conclusion, thereby securing the Group’s financing 
situation.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk can have a negative impact on the 
Group’s earnings as a result of higher interest rates on 
borrowings or lower interest rates on assets. Further-
more, changes in interest rates can affect the fair 
value of underlying financial instruments. Depending 
on the expected trend in interest rates, Feintool obtains 
financing at either fixed or variable rates. Currently, the 
bulk of the financial liabilities comprise a syndicated 
loan, which can be drawn down in cash up to a maxi-
mum amount of CHF 80 million, and mortgage loans 
amounting to CHF 22 million. The syndicated loans 
are each granted at a fixed interest rate for a term of 
three to six months. The mortgage loan is a long-term 
loan over ten years at a fixed interest rate. Interest rate 
management is mostly undertaken on a centralized 
basis so as to limit the impact of changes in interest 
rates on net financial income/finance costs.

The Feintool Group does not currently have any signifi-
cant financial liabilities with a variable interest rate. A 
0.5% increase in interest rates would have an impact 
of around kCHF 122 on earnings before taxes. 



Exchange rate risk
Owing to its geographical diversification, Feintool is ex-
posed to exchange rate risk, particularly in relation to 
the Euro and the US dollar. Changes in exchange rates 
can affect the fair value of existing financial instru-
ments and in particular the expected future cash flows. 
Insofar as is possible, the Group endeavours to offset 
fluctuations in exchange rates through natural hedging 
(netting). At Group level, the net position of the most 
important foreign currencies is hedged over a period of 
usually six months.

The Feintool Group’s exchange rate risk is calculated in 
the following sensitivity analysis.

If, as at 30 September 2011, the Swiss franc had been 
5% stronger against the Euro (US dollar) and all other 
variables had remained constant, the net income of the 
continuing segments would have been kCHF 448 lower 
(kCHF 841 lower). In addition, equity would have been 
kCHF 0 (kCHF 2,716) higher.
As at 30 September 2010, net income would have 
been kCHF 1,032 lower and equity kCHF 66 higher 
(if the Swiss franc had been 5% stronger against the 
euro); with a 5% weaker Swiss franc, net income 
would accordingly have been kCHF 1,032 higher and 
equity kCHF 66 lower. If the Swiss franc had been 5% 
stronger against the USD, net income would have been 
kCHF 1,504 higher and equity kCHF 1,706 higher; 
if the Swiss franc had been 5% weaker, net income 
would accordingly have been kCHF 1,504 lower and 
equity kCHF 1,706 lower.

Other market risks
The fair value of financial instruments may change as 
a result of exchange rates, interest rates or changes 
in credit ratings, and may therefore affect the Group’s 
financial position and earnings. Feintool seeks to mini-

mize the net effect of market risks through a balanced 
financing and asset structure.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used to minimize 
existing interest rate or exchange rate risks. The posi-
tive and negative fair values in the Notes show current 
market values. The contract volumes also shown 
indicate the extent of the exposure to derivatives.

Capital structure
In terms of capital management, the Group’s objec-
tive is to ensure that the business has the financial 
means necessary to continue as a going concern 
and to provide the resources required to achieve the 
Group’s objectives so that added value can be gener-
ated for shareholders and other stakeholders and a 
cost-effective, low-risk capital structure maintained. 
Among the criteria used by the Group to monitor its 
capital structure are the equity ratio and net financial 
liabilities. In addition, it monitors the main covenants 
(equity ratio, minimum EBITDA) under the syndicated 
loan agreement.

The equity ratio is calculated as the ratio of equity to 
total assets. Net financial liabilities consist of current 
and non-current interest-bearing liabilities less cash 
and cash equivalents. 

The Group’s objective is an equity ratio of at least 
40%. Comments on the aforementioned ratios are 
provided in the Financial Review.

Credit risk 
Feintool’s credit risk is the fair value of the recognized 
financial assets with the exception of financial guaran-
tee contracts. In some instances, Feintool has provided 
guarantees to financial institutions in relation to press 
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Maturity profile of receivables

30.09.2011                                         CHF 1,000
Carrying 
amount

Not yet 
due

Due
within 30 

days

Due
in 31-90  

days

Due
in 91-180 

 days

Due
in more than 

180 days

Trade receivables from 
third parties 63 107 50 731 5 846 2 967 2 036

 
1 527

Valuation allowances -1 719

Total receivables (net) 61 388

30.09.2010

Trade receivables from 
third parties 67 809 36 996 16 471

 
10 320 1 039 2 983

Valuation allowances -2 540

Total receivables (net) 65 269

Valuation allowance on receivables 2010/11
CHF 1, 000 

2009/10
CHF 1, 000

Amount at beginning of the period -2 540 -3 017

Translation differences    85 86

Recognized -477 -1 795

Reversed 862 1 918

Reduced on disposal of entities 262 0

Used 89 268

Amount at end of the period -1 719 -2 540

sales; these amounted to CHF 6.1 million as at 30 
September 2011 (previous year: CHF 6.2 million). In 
this case, the guaranteed amount represents the credit 
risk, with Feintool retaining the press sold at the time 
in the event of a warranty being taken up.

Default risk
Default risk is the risk that a counterparty will be 
unable to meet its liabilities to the Group companies. 
By avoiding concentrations of risk and concentrating 
financial assets among first-class counterparties, it 
should be possible to avoid extensive default risk. The 
automotive sector is the focal point of Feintool’s opera-
tions. As a result, this market segment by definition 
involves a certain risk for Feintool’s operations. As far 
as normal customer credit balances are concerned, 
outstanding receivables are constantly monitored as 
part of the process of regular reporting by the Group 

companies to Head Office. As at 30 September 2011, 
the total default risk was around CHF 104 million 
(previous year: around CHF 111 million). Feintool does 
not generate more than 8% of consolidated sales from 
any one customer (see Note 26.1). 

Due to interest-bearing deferred purchase price pay-
ments, Feintool holds some financial assets (loans) 
with private investors. 

The Feintool Group banks exclusively with renowned 
national and international institutions with ratings 
higher than BBB. It specifies the type of transactions 
which the subsidiary companies may conduct with the 
banks.



Financial liabilities – carrying 
amounts and cash outflows

30.09.2011                                  CHF 1,000

Carrying 

amounts

Total 
including 

interest
Due within 

1 year
Due within 3 

years
Due within 

5 years

Due in more 
than 

5 years Total

Trade and other payables 54 215 54 215 54 215 – – – 54 215

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

23 435 23 435 23 435 – – – 23 435

Current liabilities to banks 51 162 51 162 51 162 – – – 51 162

Lease liabilities 10 342 10 837 3 702 5 510 1 448 177 10 837

Financial liabilities 4 756 4 801 1 918 2 806 71 6 4 801

Total 143 910 144 450 134 432 8 316 1 519 183 144 450

Foreign exchange futures

- Cash inflows 20 6 200 6 200 – – – 6 200

- Cash outflows 268 6 448 6 448 – – – 6 448

Interest rate swap

- Cash inflows – – – – – – –

- Cash outflows 606 606 – 606 – – 606

30.09.2010                                  

Trade and other payables 58 928 58 928 58 928 – – – 58 928

Accrued expenses and deferred 
income

25 344 25 344 25 344 – – – 25 344

Current liabilities to banks 49 138 49 138 49 138 – – – 49 138

Lease liabilities 9 211 9 657 3 814 4 519 1 114 210 9 657

Financial liabilities 24 216 25 238 814 23 885 539 – 25 238

Total 166 837 168 305 138 038 28 404 1 653 210 168 305

Foreign exchange futures

- Cash inflows 6 446 446 – – – 446

- Cash outflows – 440 440 – – – 440

Interest rate swap

- Cash inflows 54 54 54 – – – 54

- Cash outflows – – – – – – –
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1  Net sales
2010/11
CHF 1, 000 

2009/10
CHF 1, 000

Gross sales 1) 366 098 343 782

Sales deductions        -5 885 -5 872

Total net sales 360 213 337 910

2  Personnel expenses  

Salaries and wages 90 463 92 454

Employee welfare expenses          14 393 10 783

Other personnel expenses     2 230 2 301

Total personnel expenses 107 086 105 538

3  Operating expenses  

Repair and maintenance 23 814 18 121

Rental and leasing expenses  3 949 4 272

Total operating expenses     27 763 22 393

4  Administration and sales expenses

Sales and marketing expenses 4 635 4 255

Administration and sales expenses  11 249 13 221

Total administration and sales expenses     15 884 17 476

5  Other operating expenses

Loss on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 81 440

Clean-up of the White Plains property (USA) 0 68

Taxes and duties (not including taxes on income) 595 621

Miscellaneous expenses 1) 849 2 156

Total other operating expenses     1 525 3 285

1) A total of kCHF 62,293 (previous year: kCHF 38,621) of gross sales were calculated using the percentage of completion (POC) method.

1)   Miscellaneous expenses include various costs that cannot be allocated to either operating expenses or administration and sales expenses. The 2009/10 financial 

year includes recognition of provisions amounting to kCHF 1,330. From financial year 2010/11, provisions are recognized via the expense account which relates 

to the provision.

The Group employed 1,360 staff at the end of the reporting period (1,299 in previous year) and 78 apprentices (77 in previous year).



6  Other operating income
2010/11
CHF 1, 000 

2009/10
CHF 1, 000

Gain on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 394 55

Miscellaneous income 1) 3 267 7 984

Total other operating income 3 661 8 039

7  Net financial income/finance costs

7.1  Finance costs

Interest expense paid to third parties     3 742 5 744

Other finance costs 1) 2 558 3 140

Foreign exchange losses 21 797 20 151

Total finance costs     28 097 29 035

7.2  Financial income

Interest income from third parties 871 1 223

Other financial income 752 191

Foreign exchange gains 22 002 18 546

Total financial income     23 625 19 960

1)   Miscellaneous income includes recovered bad debts, income from staff restaurants, IT cost allocations and sub-letting. Miscellaneous income in the 2009/10  

 financial year includes the reversal of provisions amounting to kCHF 2,150. From financial year 2010/11, provisions are reversed via the expense account  

 through which they were recognized.

1)   Besides bank charges, other finance costs include taxes on country-specific financial transactions, lead syndication commissions, market making costs and  

 valuation expenses from swap transactions.
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8  Analysis of income taxes
2010/11
CHF 1,000

2009/10
CHF 1,000

Current income taxes incurred in the reporting period 3 295 2 540

Current income taxes incurred in prior periods -190 179

Deferred income taxes -3 770 306

Total income taxes -665 3 025

8.1  Analysis of tax charge  

Earnings before taxes 11 001 811

Weighted tax rate as %  12.5% 35.9%

Expected overall tax expense (income) 1 379 -291

Tax loss carryforwards from the current year 
for which no deferred tax asset was recognized 2 572 5 715

Use of unrecognized loss carryforwards 
from prior year -174 -2 479

Reassessment of deferred 
tax assets/liabilities -3 565 0

Tax credits/charges from prior periods -189 179

Effect of changes in tax rates -522 25

Other effects -166 -124

Income tax income/expense -665 3 025

Income tax income/expense as % -6.0% n/a

The weighted tax rate is calculated from the tax rates likely to apply to the income of the individual Group companies in the respective tax jurisdiction, which 

naturally varies according to the actual earnings figures. 

The change in deferred tax assets/liabilities results from unrecognized tax credits for previous years, which had to be reassessed this year due to the positive 

economic changes as well as the high probability of future utilization.



9 Earnings per share
2010/11

Number

2009/10
Number

9.1  Average number of shares outstanding

Average number of shares outstanding    763 870 763 870

Less number of treasury shares (weighted) -1 232 -1 505

Average number of shares outstanding – 
basic 762 638 762 365

Average number of shares outstanding – 
diluted 762 638 762 365

9.2  Net income Feintool Group/continuing operations CHF 1,000 CHF 1,000

Net income of the Feintool Group – basic 11 666 -2 215

Net income of the Feintool Group – diluted 11 666 -2 215

Net income from continuing operations – basic 12 071 -11 845

Net income from continuing operations – diluted 12 071 -11 845

9.3  Earnings per share in CHF in CHF

Basic earnings per share 15.30 -2.91

Diluted earnings per share 15.30 -2.91

Basic earnings per share 
from continuing operations 15.83 -15.54

Diluted earnings per share 
from continuing operations 15.83 -15.54

Basic earnings per share are calculated on the basis of net income for the reporting period divided by the average number of shares outstanding. No dilution effects 

were identified in the reporting year. 

At present, the Group does not have any share-based programmes that could result in dilution.
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10  Trade and other receivables
30.09.2011

CHF 1,000

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000

Trade receivables from third parties 63 107 67 809

Valuation allowances -1 719 -2 540

Total trade receivables (net) 61 388 65 269

Bills receivable 458 594

Advance payments to third parties 0 17

Other receivables 7 944 5 197

Total trade and other receivables 69 790 71 077

Percentage of receivables

in EUR 42.8% 44.4%

in USD 31.5% 29.3%

in JPY 16.0% 16.1%

in CHF 9.7% 9.8%

in other currencies 0.0% 0.4%

11  Inventories

Raw material 7 343 8 141

Finished and semi-finished goods 20 336 23 101

Valuation allowance on inventories -3 817 -5 162

Total inventories     23 862 26 080

12  Net assets of construction contracts  

Construction contracts in progress 45 224 47 358

Prepayments received  -15 147 -23 285

Valuation allowances on construction contracts -1 855 -1 504

Total net assets of construction contracts     28 222 22 569



13  Property, plant and equipment                   CHF 1,000    Real estate Machinery
Other property, plant 

and equipment Total

Cost 
as at 01.10.2009 124 987 155 765 29 127 309 879

Additions 66 4 343 3 044 7 453

Disposals, including reclassifications -3 129 -7 377 -2 794 -13 300

Translation differences -4 676 -6 813 -1 937 -13 426

As at 30.09.2010 117 248 145 918 27 440 290 606

Additions 358 14 211 18 555 33 124

Disposals, including reclassifications 1) -32 792 -1 779 -9 576 -44 147

Change in the consolidated Group -1 001 -8 223 -2 956 -12 180

Translation differences -3 777 -7 427 -1 381 -12 585

As at 30.09.2011 80 036 142 700 32 082 254 818

Accumulated depreciation 
as at 01.10.2009 -26 525 -91 024 -22 986 -140 535

Additions -3 803 -13 163 -1 848 -18 814

Disposals, including reclassifications 1 069 7 503 1 391 9 963

Impairment losses – -2 727 – -2 727

Translation differences 902 4 713 1 678 7 293

As at 30.09.2010 -28 357 -94 698 -21 765 -144 820

Additions -3 475 -9 813 -1 443 -14 731

Disposals, including reclassifications 1) 13 510 2 283 8 472 24 265

Impairment losses 2) -4 833 – – -4 833

Change in the consolidated Group 432 6 434 2 364 9 230

Translation differences 805 4 763 1 173 6 741

As at 30.09.2011 -21 918 -91 031 -11 199 -124 148

Net carrying amounts

As at 30.09.2010 88 891 51 220 5 675 145 786

Thereof leased assets – 6 645 43 6 688

As at 30.09.2011 58 118 51 669 20 883 130 670

Thereof leased assets – 9 725 – 9 725

Other property, plant and equipment includes installations, vehicles and assets under construction. Assets under construction amounted to kCHF 16,860 in the reporting 
period (previous year: kCHF 1,025). Gain on asset disposals is recognized as other operating income (Note 6). A gain of kCHF 394 (previous year: kCHF 55) was generated in 
the reporting year. Loss on asset disposals is recognized as other operating expenses (Note 5). This loss totalled kCHF 81 in the reporting period (previous year: kCHF 440). 

The change in the consolidated Group concerns the disposal of the property, plant and equipment of the companies sold and liquidated.

1) ”Disposals, including reclassifications” includes the reclassification of the properties in Biberist and Huttwil, which were no longer used for operations. These properties were  
 reclassified to current assets under assets held for sale. The carrying amount of the Biberist property is kCHF 16,000 (after impairment), and that of the property in 
 Huttwil kCHF 3,039.

2)  An impairment analysis of the quality of the property in Biberist, which was no longer used for operations and was held for sale, showed that the current book value no longer  
 corresponds to the market value less disposal costs. The book value has therefore been impaired by kCHF 4,833 to kCHF 16,000. A discount rate of 7% has been  
 applied. The impairment loss is therefore shown in the statement of comprehensive income under discontinued operations. See Note 27.

As at 30 September 2011, the Feintool Group entered into purchase commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment in the amount of kCHF 3,800.
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14  Intangible assets                    CHF 1,000                                                                                                                    Goodwill

Capitalized 
development

costs Software

Other 
intangible

assets 1) Total

Net carrying amounts 
as at 01.10.2009 12 058 882 957 2 719 16 616

Additions – 800 40 21 861

Disposals – – – -6 -6

Amortization – -332 -363 -1 270 -1 965

Translation differences – – -38 -7 -45

As at 30.09.2010 12 058 1 350 596 1 457 15 461

Additions – – 667 11 678

Disposals, including reclassifications – – 196 -302 -106

Change in the consolidated Group -5 287 – -67 -134 -5 488

Amortization – -492 -371 -281 -1 144

Translation differences -1 566 – -48 -40 -1 654

As at 30.09.2011 5 205 858 973 711 7 747

Overview as at 30.09.2010

Gross amounts 12 058 5 603 5 497 12 552 35 710

Accumulated amortization – -4 253 -4 901 -11 095 -20 249

Net carrying amounts 12 058 1 350 596 1 457 15 461

Overview as at 30.09.2011

Gross amounts 5 205 5 603 4 825 10 340 25 973

Accumulated amortization – -4 745 -3 852 -9 629 -18 226

Net carrying amounts 5 205 858 973 711 7 747

1) Other intangible assets primarily comprise patents and licences. 

Research and development expenses amounting to kCHF 3,769 (previous year: kCHF 6,724) were charged to the consolidated statement of income.

Fire insured values
30.09.2011

CHF 1,000

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000

Buildings        127 146 128 142

Goods 69 769 88 884

Other property, plant and equipment 236 745 274 956

Total fire insured values 433 660 491 982



The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units are calculated on the basis of the value in use.  The significant assumptions on which the calculations are based 

relate to the rate of growth, development of the EBIT margin and the discount rate. The cash flow projections relate to a budget approved by the management for a 

period of three years and an extended extrapolation over two years. The assumptions are based on empirical values and accord with industry projections. No sales 

growth is included in the terminal value. The cash-flow projections are discounted at a rate of 9%. 

1) Afag Automation AG, Huttwil (Switzerland), was sold in financial year 2010/11.

Other information
Goodwill
30.09.2011

Carrying amount

CHF 1, 000  

Interest rate 

in %

Growth rate

 in %

Inflation rate 

in %

IMA Automation Amberg GmbH, Amberg (DE) 4 246 10.7 5.0 1.7

Promera Jena Feinschneid- und Umformtechnik GmbH, 
Jena (DE) 959 11.0 4.0 1.7

Total carrying amount 5 205

Goodwill
30.09.2010
Afag Automation AG, Huttwil (CH) 1) 5 219 10.1 6.0 0.9

IMA Automation Amberg GmbH, Amberg (DE) 5 564 9.4 5.0 1.6

Promera Jena Feinschneid- und Umformtechnik GmbH, 
Jena (DE) 1 275 9.7 5.0 1.6

Total carrying amount 12 058

15  Financial assets
30.09.2011

CHF 1,000 
30.09.2010

CHF 1,000

Loans to third parties 4 763 604

Rental deposit accounts 3 104 3 062

Financial assets 7 867 3 666

Percentage of loans and rental deposits

in CHF 94.9% 77.7%

in EUR 0.0% 10.9%

in other currencies 5.1% 11.4%

The weighted average interest rate in the reporting period was 1.7% (previous year: 1.7%). 

The increase in loans to third parties comprises non-current receivables amounting to CHF 4.6 million from the disposal of the Afag and BalTec companies. The receiv-
ables attract variable interest rates of between 4% and 10%.

78 | 



Feintool Group Financial Review 2010/11  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements | 79  

16.3  Unrecognized tax assets

Deferred tax assets, including those for tax loss carryforwards and expected tax credits, are only recognized if it is probable that prof-
its will be available against which the loss carryforwards and tax credits can be utilized.

16  Deferred taxes                                             CHF 1,000

Deferred tax

assets

Deferred tax

liabilities

Deferred tax 

assets

Deferred tax 

liabilities

16.1  Carrying amounts

Deferred taxes for temporary differences

Current assets 1 366 1 730 2 518 1 825

Non-current assets 5 477 9 436 2 338 9 320

Provisions and other liabilities 2 482 1 244 1 422 867

Employee benefit plans 338 377 402 0

Loss carryforwards 6 227 0 4 622 0

Other temporary differences 538 1 613 9

Netting -8 300 -8 300 -7 852 -7 852

Total carrying amounts 8 128 4 488 4 063 4 169

16.2  Statement of deferred taxes  

As at 01.10. -106 203

Recognition and reversal of temporary differences 3 777 -311

Temporary differences arising on disposal of entities 7 0

Translation differences -38 2

As at 30.9. 3 640 -106

Of which recognized in the balance sheet as:

- deferred tax liabilities -4 488 -4 169

- deferred tax assets 8 128 4 063

Net amount recognized 3 640 -106

The recognition of temporary differences from the disposal of companies results from unrecognized tax credits for previous years, which had to be reappraised this 

year due to the positive economic changes as well as the high probability of future utilization.

30.09.2011 30.09.2010



16.4  Tax loss carryforwards
30.09.2011

CHF 1, 000

30.09.2010
CHF 1, 000

Total tax loss carryforwards 148 064 142 874

of which recognized tax loss carryforwards   18 026 14 114

Total unrecognized tax loss carryforwards 130 038 128 760

of which expiring: 

within 1 year 652 523

in one to five years 7 944 21 693

in more than five years 121 442 106 544

Tax effects of unrecognized 
tax loss carryforwards    20 931 25 471

17  Financial liabilities

17.1  Current financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks 51 162 49 138

Current portion of lease liabilities    3 704 3 815

Current portion of other non-current liabilities to banks     1 917  815

Total current financial liabilities    56 783 53 768

Percentage of current financial liabilities

in CHF 60.8% 57.5%

in EUR 20.6% 27.2%

in JPY 16.3% 11.1%

in USD 2.3% 4.2%

The weighted average interest rate in the reporting period was 4.4% (prior year: 6.0%).

The CHF 120 million syndicated loan and CHF 22 million mortgage loan both expire on 31 July 2012. Feintool is in negotiations with all banks concerning 
a follow-up facility of the same magnitude. The Board of Directors and management are convinced that these negotiations will be brought to a successful 
conclusion, thereby securing the Group‘s financing.

Income taxes and information regarding the tax charge are shown in Note 8. 
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17.2  Non-current financial liabilities
30.09.2011

CHF 1, 000

30.09.2010
CHF 1, 000

Non-current lease liabilities 6 638 5 396

Other non-current liabilities to banks   2 839 23 401

Total non-current financial liabilities   9 477 28 797

Percentage of non-current financial liabilities

in JPY 46,8% 21,7%

in CHF 24,9% 76,0%

in EUR 24,6% 0,0%

in USD 3,7% 2,3%

18  Trade and other payables

 

Trade payables 44 022 45 257

Other liabilities    4 578 7 578

Notes payable 5 930 6 193

Prepayments from third parties 17 488 3 235

Total trade and other payables        72 018 62 263

The weighted average interest rate in the reporting period was 3.5% (previous year: 5.0%).
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19  Provisions                                                         CHF 1,000                                                                                                                                       
Onerous 

contracts Warranties
Other 

provisions Total

Current provisions 1 118 1 579 1 948 4 645

Non-current provisions – 1 869 436 2 305

Total provisions as at 30.09.2010 1 118 3 448 2 384 6 950

Recognized 352 2 029 1 742 4 123

Used -629 -527 -447 -1 603

Reversed -412 -496 -539 -1 447

Change in the consolidated Group – -1 162 -319 -1 481

Translation differences -63 -75 -144 -282

Total provisions as at 30.09.2011 366 3 217 2 677 6 260

Current provisions 366 525 2 477 3 368

Non-current provisions – 2 692 200 2 892

Total provisions as at 30.09.2011 366 3 217 2 677 6 260

Provisions are recognized for onerous contracts in order to cover the expected losses on existing orders. 

They are reversed based on the stage of completion. As a rule, orders are completed 12 months after they are received.

Provisions for actual warranty events cover the estimated cost arising from warranty services provided by the Group companies, which the company must cover for 

contractual reasons or due to its conduct. The outflow of funds occurs – as and when the warranties are taken up – over a maximum of three years.

“Other provisions“ include provisions for restructurings, customer complaints and various small items. The outflow of funds is expected to occur over 1 to 2 years.
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20 Employee benefit plans                          CHF 1,000                                                                                            
Funded 

plans
Unfunded

 plans Other Total

20.1 Defined benefit plans 
as at 30.09.2011

Net assets at fair value 109 796 109 796

Present value of defined benefit obligation -136 465 -1 496 -2 711 -140 672

Financial surplus/shortfall -26 669 -1 496 -2 711 -30 876

Unrecognized actuarial 
gains/losses 27 624 27 624

Unrecognized surplus – –

Total net carrying amount 955 -1 496 -2 711 -3 252

Of which recognized in the balance sheet as:

- employee benefit plans under assets 1 716 1 716

- employee benefit plans under liabilities -761 -1 496 -2 711 -4 968

Defined benefit plans 
as at 30.09.2010

Net assets at fair value 131 565 131 565

Present value of defined benefit obligation -144 310 -1 778 -2 849 -148 937

Financial surplus/shortfall -12 745 -1 778 -2 849 -17 372

Unrecognized actuarial 
gains/losses 14 803 14 803

Unrecognized surplus -2 772 -2 772

Total net carrying amount -714 -1 778 -2 849 -5 341

Of which recognized in the balance sheet as:

- employee benefit plans under assets – – – –

- employee benefit plans under liabilities -714 -1 778 -2 849 -5 341

The assets of the employee benefit plans do not include treasury shares (previous year: kCHF 0). The Group uses assets (property, plant and equipment) belonging to 

the employee benefits funds worth kCHF 7,241 (previous year: kCHF 7,950). Other liabilities comprise provisions for seniority plans.
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20.2 Change in net assets at fair value
2010/11
CHF 1, 000

2009/10
CHF 1, 000

As at 01.10. 131 565 144 744

Expected return on assets   5 253 5 754

Actuarial gain/loss (-) -8 763 -2 100

Planned reduction in net assets due 
to disposal of operations -20 025 0

Contributions from employees 2 746 3 239

Contributions from employer 3 366 3 823

Benefits paid out -4 355 -23 918

Translation differences 9 23

As at 30.09. 109 796 131 565

20.3  Change in present value of defined 
benefit obligation

As at 01.10. -148 937 -158 611

Current service cost  -5 586 -7 276

Interest cost -4 316 -4 987

Actuarial gain/loss (-) -10 783 -2 519

Planned reduction in obligation due to disposal of operations 23 785 0

Benefits paid out 5 030 24 252

Translation differences 135 204

As at 30.09. -140 672 -148 937
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20.4 Employee benefit expenses for 
defined benefit plans

2010/11
CHF 1, 000 

2009/10
CHF 1, 000

Current service cost 5 586 7 276

Interest cost 4 316 4 987

Expected return on assets -5 253 -5 754

Curtailment 193 0

Contributions from employees -2 746 -3 239

Change in unrecognized assets 2 772 1 775

Recognition of actuarial losses -2 772 0

Net employee benefit expenses 2 096 5 045

Current return on assets -3.3% 4.4%

20.5  Investment profile of net assets

Equities 25.5% 25.3%

Bonds 47.0% 53.5%

Real estate 12.0% 13.4%

Cash and other investments 15.5% 7.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

20.6  Basis of calculation  (weighted average)

Discount rate 2.50% 3.00%

Expected return on investments 3.50% 4.00%

Increase in wages and salaries 1.50% 1.50%

Increase in pensions 0.00% 0.00%

20.7  Funding level of defined benefit plans and 
difference between expected and actual return

2010/11
CHF 1,000 

2009/10
CHF 1,000

2008/09
CHF 1,000

2007/08
CHF 1,000

2006/07
CHF 1,000

Plan assets 109 796 131 565 144 744 139 250 173 504

Obligations arising from benefit plans        -136 465 -144 310 -153 832 -163 086 -161 484

Surplus/shortfall -26 669 -12 745 -9 088 -23 836 12 020

Difference between expected and actual 
return on plan assets -8 763 -2 100 5 775 -27 024 5 585

Actuarial adjustment on 
benefit obligations 10 783 1 995 6 749 -34 -7 497

The expected return is calculated from the expected long-term return on the funds invested in the pension fund based on the investment profile. However, short-term 

fluctuations can result in a higher or lower return. Feintool believes the long-term return of 3.5% is realistic.

The contributions for financial year 2011/12 will be roughly on a par with those in financial year 2010/11.
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21  Equity

21.1  Share capital
30.9.2011

in CHF

30.9.2010
in CHF

Number of shares 763 870 763 870

Nominal value     50 50

Share capital 38 193 500 38 193 500

21.2  Conditional capital – employee stock option plan CHF 1,000 CHF 1,000

As at 1.10. 558 558

Used      0 0

As at 30.9. 558 558

21.3 Treasury shares – changes Number

30.9.2011
 CHF 1,000 Number

30.9.2010
CHF 1,000

As at 1.10. 1 362 400 2 253 647

Buybacks     2 282 420

Sales 2 971 1 311

As at 30.9.       673 223 1 362 400

of which:         

held for trading  673 1 362

This conditional capital comprising 11,150 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 50, was created by resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting on 2 

July 1998 for the payment of rights conferred under the employee stock option plan. 

In financial year 2010/11, 2,282 shares were purchased at an average price of CHF 342.95 (previous year: 420 shares at an average price of CHF 302.06) and 

2,971 shares sold at an average price of CHF 335.82 (previous year: 1,311 shares at an average price of CHF 216.16). Treasury shares are reserved primarily for 

management remuneration.

In financial year 2010/11 there were no changes in share capital.
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22  Segment information

2010/11                                    
Products and services            CHF 1,000

Fineblanking 

Technology 

System 

Parts

Auto-

mation

Total
segments

Finance/

Other  
Elimina-

tions Group

Net sales 109 754 229 955 46 788 386 497 – -26 284 360 213

- Intersegment income        -26 301 5 – -26 296 – 26 296 –

Total net sales - Group 83 453 229 960 46 788 360 201 – 12 360 213

EBITDA 11 529 24 270 3 957 39 756 -4 790 -3 263 31 703

Depreciation and amortization -1 469 -10 936 -303 -12 708 -2 808 829 -14 687

Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) 10 060 13 334 3 654 27 048 -7 598 -2 434 17 016

Finance costs -28 097

Financial income 23 625

Income taxes -473

Net income from continuing operations 12 071

Assets 2) 71 109 191 098 23 135 285 342 160 435 -122 265 323 512

Net working capital 1) 2) 24 043 21 845 1 091 46 979 -635 146 46 490

Investment in property, plant and equip-
ment/intangible assets (incl. leases) 2) 1 604 36 276 650 38 530

 
477 -5 205 33 802

Number of employees 237 821 264 1 322 38 – 1 360
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Geographical areas Switzerland

Europe excl. 

Switzerland America Asia Group

Net sales - Group 13 030 192 573 84 533 70 077 360 213

Property, plant and equipment/intangible 
assets

32 207 35 866 42 959 27 385 138 417

1)  Net working capital comprises trade receivables, inventories and net assets of production orders in progress less trade payables and advance payments 

 received from customers.

2)  The figures for discontinued operations are included in “Finance/Other“.

The Feintool Fineblanking Technology segment comprises the development, manufacture and sale of presses, tools, peripheral systems and all related services. The 

Feintool System Parts segment develops, manufactures and sells high-precision system components and assemblies using fineblanking technology. The Feintool 

Automation segment offers a comprehensive range of assembly systems.

“Finance/Other“ essentially comprise the figures for Feintool International Holding AG, Feintool International Management AG, Feintool Intellectual Property AG, the 

German sub-holding company Feintool Holding GmbH and the real estate company included in the sub-holding company HL Holding AG and its subsidiaries. The 

figures for the discontinued operations are also included here.

The operating profit/loss comprises all operating income and expenses directly attributable to the individual segments. This includes all cross-segment income and 

expenses, which are calculated directly on an arm‘s length basis. Feintool‘s financing is undertaken at Group level. Financial income, finance costs and taxes are 

therefore reported at Group level only and do not appear in the segment reports.

There is no reconciliation of the data in management reports to the data contained in the financial reports, as internal and external reporting are subject to the 

same measurement principles.
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2009/10                                   
Products and services            CHF 1,000

Fineblanking 

Technology 

System 

Parts

Auto-

mation 
Total

segments
Finance/

Other 
Elimina-

tions Group

Net sales 69 494 233 124 40 220 342 838 – -4 928 337 910

- Intersegment income        -5 177 -2 250 -4 929 – 4 929 –

Total net sales - Group 64 317 233 122 40 470 337 909 – 1 337 910

EBITDA 2 435 25 033 3 138 30 606 -7 607 -183 22 816

Depreciation and amortization -1 627 -15 362 -344 -17 333 -2 895 899 -19 329

Impairment losses – -2 727 – -2 727 – – -2 727

Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) 808 6 944 2 794 10 546 -10 502 716 760

Finance costs -29 035

Financial income 19 960

Income taxes -3 530

Net income from continuing operations -11 845

Assets 2) 67 524 165 257 40 404 273 185 174 679 -122 288 325 576

Net working capital 1) 2) 18 176 26 701 15 709 60 586 -136 -606 59 844

Investment in property, plant and equip-
ment/intangible assets (incl. leases) 2) 151 7 115 432 7 698 1 197 -581 8 314

Number of employees 224 800 237 1 261 38 – 1 299

Geographical areas Switzerland

Europe excl. 

Switzerland America Asia Group

Net sales - Group 18 773 152 627 86 664 79 846 337 910

Property, plant and equipment/intangible 
asset

65 118 38 438 38 774 18 917 161 247

1)  Net working capital comprises trade receivables, inventories and net assets of production orders in progress less trade payables and advance payments 

 received from customers.

2)  The figures for discontinued operations are included in “Finance/Other“.

The Feintool Fineblanking Technology segment comprises the development, manufacture and sale of presses, tools, peripheral systems and all related services. The 

Feintool System Parts segment develops, manufactures and sells high-precision system components and assemblies using fineblanking technology. The Feintool 

Automation segment offers a comprehensive range of assembly systems.

“Finance/Other“ essentially comprise the figures for Feintool International Holding AG, Feintool International Management AG, Feintool Intellectual Property AG, the 

German sub-holding company Feintool Holding GmbH and the real estate company included in the sub-holding company HL Holding AG and its subsidiaries. The 

figures for the discontinued operations are also included here.

The operating profit/loss comprises all operating income and expenses directly attributable to the individual segments. This includes all cross-segment income and 

expenses, which are calculated directly on an arm‘s length basis. Feintool‘s financing is undertaken at Group level. Financial income, finance costs and taxes are 

therefore reported at Group level only and do not appear in the segment reports.

There is no reconciliation of the data in management reports to the data contained in the financial reports, as internal and external reporting are subject to the 

same measurement principles.
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23  Off-balance sheet transactions:  
      Contingent liabilities

30.9.2011
CHF 1,000 

30.9.2010
CHF 1,000

Guarantees in favour of third parties 6 100 6 200

Other contingent obligations      3 924 4 273

Contingent liabilities 10 024 10 473

25  Lease liabilities

Lease payments as at 30.9.2011 falling due

 CHF 1, 000

Operating 

leases 

CHF 1, 000 

Finance

leases

within 1 year 1 236 3 704

in one to five years  902 7 031

in more than five years 0 177

Total payments 2 138 10 912

Less finance charge  -570

Total lease liabilities as at 30.9.2011 10 342

Lease payments as at 30.9.2010 falling due

within 1 year 2 883 3 815

in one to five years  3 471 5 984

in more than five years 317 210

Total payments 6 671 10 009

Less finance charge  -798

Total lease liabilities as at 30.9.2010 9 211

Guarantees in favour of third parties are primarily repurchase guarantees given to leasing companies for fineblanking presses sold.

Other contingent obligations primarily comprise funding which has been received and which is subject to certain conditions. In the event of a breach of these obliga-

tions, there is a risk that these funds or a portion of them will have to be repaid.

In White Plains, NY, a Feintool company owns a property that is contaminated with tetrachloroethene (Perc). Feintool is participating in the state-controlled Brown-

field Cleanup Program. Under this programme, the land is to be cleaned up to the extent that it can put to a new use. On its balance sheet, Feintool is currently 

carrying a provision of roughly kUSD 453 for this clean-up, which it currently believes will not have a significant effect on the Group‘s financial position, results of 

operations or cash flows.

At the end of the reporting period, Feintool was not involved in any court proceedings. However, disputes relating to product liability, promotional activities, labour 

law and unfair dismissals, anti-trust law, securities trading, sales and marketing practices, health and safety, environmental and tax-related claims, state investi-

gations and copyright law are always a possibility. Such proceedings could result in substantial claims being brought against Feintool which may not be covered by 

insurance policies. However, Feintool believes that the proceedings would not have a significant effect on the company’s financial position.

24  Assets pledged as security for own liabilities
30.09.2011

CHF 1,000 

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000

Financial assets 2 869 2 500

Real estate 61 115 70 109

Machinery and equipment 9 725 6 688

Assets pledged as security for own liabilities 73 709 79 297

The pledging of the shares of key subsidiaries in accordance with the bank agreement means that most of the Group‘s assets are indirectly pledged.
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26  Financial instruments

26.1  Financial assets as at 30.09.2011                  CHF 1,000

Cash and 

cash equiva-

lents

Prepaid 
expenses and 

accrued 
income

Receivables
Financial

assets Total

Cash reserves 24 319 – – – 24 319

Financial assets held for trading – 20 – – 20

Loans and receivables – 1 755 69 790 7 867 79 412

Carrying amount of total financial assets 24 319 1 775 69 790 7 867 103 751

26.2  Financial assets as at 30.09.2010

Cash reserves 32 169 – – – 32 169

Financial assets held for trading – 60 – – 60

Loans and receivables – 4 291 71 077 3 666 79 034

Carrying amount of total financial assets 32 169 4 351 71 077 3 666 111 263

26.3  Financial liabilities                             CHF 1,000
Trade 

payables

Accrued 
expenses 

and deferred 
income

Current 
financial

 liabilities

Non-current 
financial 
liabilities Total

Financial liabilities held for trading – 874 – – 874

Other financial liabilities 72 018 23 167 56 783 9 477 161 445

Carrying amount as at 30.09.2011 72 018 24 041 56 783 9 477 162 319

Other financial liabilities  62 263 25 344 53 768 28 797 170 172

Carrying amount as at 30.09.2010 62 263 25 344 53 768 28 797 170 172

The carrying amounts do not differ significantly from the fair values

26.4 Fair value hierarchy
Feintool has measured financial instruments at fair value and uses the following hierarchy to determine fair value.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly  
 (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) 
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Feintool holds only financial instruments in Level 2 amounting to kCHF -854 net (previous year: kCHF 60).
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26.7  Derivative financial instruments 
        outstanding as at 30.09.2011            CHF 1,000 positive

 

negative
Contract 

values

Futures contracts 20 268 6 180

Currency instruments 20 268 6 180

Interest rate swaps – 606 9 440

Interest rate instruments – 606 9 440

Total derivative financial instruments 20 874 15 620

26.8  Derivative financial instruments 
        outstanding as at 30.09.2010           CHF 1,000 positive negative

Contract
values

Futures contracts 6 – 440

Currency instruments 6 – 440

Interest rate swaps 54 – 2 832

Interest rate instruments 54 – 2 832

Total derivative financial instruments 60 – 3 272

Fair values

Currency instruments primarily relate to the hedging of exchange rate risk in EUR. The term to maturity of the foreign exchange futures is a few months.

26.5  Classification of financial income/finance  
         costs 2010/11                            CHF 1,000 Cash reserves

Held 
for

trading
Loans and 

receivables

Other 
financial 
liabilities Total

Carrying amounts as at 30.09.2011 24 319 -854 79 412 160 839

Interest income/expenses – – 871 -3 742 -2 871

Other financial income/finance costs – 319 -2 042 -83 -1 806

Change in valuation allowance on customer receivables 
and bad debt losses – – 355 – 355

Total net gain/loss – 319 -816 -3 825 -4 322

26.6  Classification of financial income/finance  
         costs 2009/10                            CHF 1,000 

Carrying amounts as at 30.09.2010 32 169 60 79 034 170 172

Interest income/expenses – – 1 223 -5 744 -4 521

Other financial income/finance costs – -217 168 -2 900 -2 949

Change in valuation allowance on customer receivables 
and bad debt losses – – 211 – 211

Total net gain/loss – -217 1 602 -8 644 -7 259

Fair values



Results of discontinued operations
2010/11
CHF 1,000 

2009/10
CHF 1,000

Net sales 28 307 52 841

Total operating expenses -31 165 -42 864

Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) -2 858 9 977

Net financial income/finance costs -1 024 -1 914

Earnings before taxes -3 882 8 063

Income taxes 1 138 504

Net income from discontinued operations -2 744 8 567

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (incl. costs to 
sell of kCHF 1,170) 1) 2 339 1 062

Effect on net income for the period -405 9 629

Cash flows

- from operating activities     1 570 -2 002

- from investing activities     -89 2 044

- from financing activities -3 406 -733

Translation differences -2 -32

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -1 927 -723

Earnings per share

- basic  -0.53 12.63

- diluted -0.53 12.63

27. Discontinued operations

In financial year 2010/11, the Feintool Group sold the Afag and BalTec units to investors (see “Basis of consolidation“ on page 58). 

The income and expenses as well as impairment of the properties held for sale in Biberist and Huttwil were recognized under 

discontinued operations. The Feintool Group firmly believes that the two properties can be sold within 12 months. Measures relating 

to the disposal of the buildings have been initiated. 

Finally, profit and loss figures for Mühlemann AG, which was in liquidation and was deleted from the Commercial Register on  

26 October 2011, are also shown under discontinued operations.

1)  The gain on disposal of discontinued operations includes foreign currency losses amounting to CHF 2.0 million.
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Effect of the disposal on the Group‘s financial position 2010/11
CHF 1,000 

2009/10
CHF 1,000

Cash and cash equivalents -2 428 0

Trade and other receivables
-8 777 0

Inventories -7 508 0

Property, plant and equipment -2 937 0

Goodwill -5 287 0

Deferred tax assets  -28 0

Trade and other payables
11 057 0

Deferred tax liabilities 66 0

Net assets and liabilities -15 842 0

Consideration received in cash 1) 16 800 0

less cash and cash equivalents disposed of    -2 428 0

Net cash inflow 14 372 0

The effect of the disposal on the Group‘s financial position shows the disposal of the Afag group and the BalTec group.

1)  The total consideration of the Afag and BalTec groups is approx. CHF 21.4 million, CHF 16.8 million of which is payable immediately and approx. CHF 4.6 million at  

 a later date or following completed disposal of specific plant. 
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29  Disclosures on the consolidated statement of cash flows
 
In the reporting period, new finance lease agreements amounting to kCHF 2,858 (previous year: kCHF 49) were concluded.

30  Related parties 
 
Levels of compensation for key management are set out by the Nomination and Compensation Committee and approved by the 
full Board of Directors.

The amount of all compensation, specifically fees, salaries, credits, bonuses and benefits in kind agreed during the reporting year 
and paid directly or indirectly to the members of the Board of Directors and Group Management totalled kCHF 3,139 (previous 
year: kCHF 4,005).

All transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length. No unusual transactions took place with the principal share-
holders or with other related parties.

1)  Board of Directors, Group Management.  

28.1  Share ownership plan 
As a component of the bonus for financial year 2009/10, 1,146 shares (previous year: 1,261 shares) in the amount of CHF 
288,935 (previous year: CHF 271,384) were transferred from treasury holdings to the Group Management in the reporting period. 
The shares passed directly into the ownership of the recipients.

28  Capital participation plans

Compensation for key management 1)
2010/11
CHF 1,000 

2009/10
CHF 1,000

Salaries (including cash bonuses and lump-sum expenses), fees 2 683 3 296

Contributions to pension plans 191 426

Capital participation plans 265 283

Total 3 139 4 005
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31  Significant shareholders                              CHF 1,000

Number 

of shares

Share of capital/

share of votes

Number 

of shares

Share of capital/

share of votesl

Artemis Beteiligungen III AG and Michael Pieper 620 426 81.22% 239 060 31.30%

Bösch & Co. and Fritz Bösch – – 228 993 29.98%

Geocent AG 69 538 9.10% 69 538 9.10%

The number of shares includes the shares actually held.
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32  Risk assessment

Feintool International Holding AG regularly conducts a risk assessment of the Feintool Group in accordance with Art. 663b para. 
12 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. This is based on information from previous years obtained through interviews with key 
persons at individual companies and validated in a workshop. The standardized process is based on a list of risks classified 
into environmental, litigation and information risks. Risks were evaluated in accordance with their probability of occurrence and 
financial impact, and recorded in a risk matrix. In the year under review, these were reviewed and where necessary adapted to 
new circumstances. Both the Group Management and Board of Directors scrutinize the most significant risks and evaluate them 
from a company and group perspective. The risk assessment forms part of the risk management process, which is used to 
monitor and control corporate risks. For that reason, the measures defined for minimizing risk were also validated. 

30.09.2011 30.09.2010
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33  Events after the end of the reporting period

The Feintool Group was able to sell the property in Biberist, which is stated in the balance sheet under “Assets held for sale”, 
on 28 November 2011. The disposal price less cost to sell is close to the book value.

34  Proposal of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of CHF 4 per registered share be paid (previ-
ous year: CHF 0) for financial year 2010/11. This corresponds to a total dividend distribution of kCHF 3,055 (previous year: 
kCHF 0).

35  Approval of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 November 2011 and will be 
submitted to the Annual General Meeting for approval on 24 January 2012.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
to the General Meeting of Shareholders 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying con-

solidated financial statements of Feintool International Holding 

AG, which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, 

balance sheet, statement of cash flows, statement of changes 

in equity and notes, on pages 48 to 96, for the year ended 30 

September 2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility 

includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal 

control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of consolidated financial statements that are free from mate-

rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The board 

of directors is further responsible for selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies and making accounting esti-

mates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consoli-

dated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing 

Standards as well as International Standards on Auditing. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial state-

ments are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-

dence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-

ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 

the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-

cial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended 30 September 2011 give a true and fair view of 

the financial position, the results of operations and the cash 

flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing 

according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and indepen-

dence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are 

no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and 

Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 

control system exists, which has been designed for the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements according to 

the instructions of the board of directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements 

submitted to you be approved.

Other Matter
The consolidated financial statements of Feintool International 

Holding AG for the year ended 30 September 2010, were 

audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified 

opinion on those statements on 2 December 2010.

KPMG AG

Rolf Hauenstein Peter Stössel

Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit  

Auditor in Charge Expert

Zürich, 29 November 2011

Feintool International Holding AG, Lyss
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Feintool International Holding AG Balance Sheet

ASSETS 30.09.2011
CHF 1,000 in %

30.09.2010
CHF 1,000 in %

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents       11 092 22 360

Treasury shares     215 472

Accounts receivable – intercompany   7 424 11 343

Accounts receivable – third parties   404 548

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 294 1 781

Total current assets 19 429 12.2 36 504 16.6

Non-current assets

Investments 63 380 87 571

Marketable securities        0 35

Financial investments – third parties 4 600 0

Other financial investments – intercompany of which kCHF 
33,940 subordinated (previous year: kCHF 34,918) 71 357 95 355

Total non-current assets   139 337 87.8 182 961 83.4

TOTAL ASSETS 158 766 100.0 219 465 100.0

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities 

Short-term bank debt      12 586 28 376

Short-term liabilities – intercompany       25 790 44 138

Short-term liabilities – third parties 181 479

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1 002 1 145

Total current liabilities 39 559 24.9 74 138 33.8

Provisions 300 0

Total non-current liabilities 300 0.2 0 0.0

Total liabilities 39 859 25.1 74 138 33.8

Equity

Share capital 38 193 38 193

General legal reserves 99 969

    Reserves from capital contributions 99 969

Free reserves 11 209

    Reserves from capital contributions 5 162

    Free reserves 1 780

Reserve for treasury shares 223 401

Loss for the year -26 420 -4 445

Total equity 118 907 74.9 145 327 66.2

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 158 766 100.0 219 465 100.0
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Feintool International Holding AG Statement 
of Income

INCOME 2010/11
CHF 1,000 in %

2009/10
CHF 1,000 in %

Financial income 28 011 76.3 26 137 86.0

Other income 6 525 17.8 4 241 14.0

Gain on disposals/liquidation of investments 2 149 5.9 0 0.0

Total income 36 685 100.0 30 378 100.0

EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses       4 807 13.1 4 060 13.4

Financial expenses       26 111 71.2 23 782 78.3

Contributions to management company          5 737 15.6  6 981 23.0

Impairment on non-current financial assets 26 450 72.1 0 0.0

Total expenses 63 105 172.0 34 823 114.7

Loss for the year -26 420 -72.0 -4 445 -14.7
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2  Conditional capital CHF 1,000

Conditional capital 1: Employee stock option plan

As at 30 September 2010 558

Created 0

Used 0

As at 30 September 2011 558

Notes to the Financial Statements of 
Feintool International Holding AG

3  Acquisition, holding and sale of treasury shares

 

Average price 

in CHF Number

Treasury shares

Treasury shares as at 30 September 2010 1 362

Additions from 1.10.2010 to 30.9.2011 342.95 2 282

Disposals from 1.10.2010 to 30.9.2011 335.82 2 971

Treasury shares as at 30 September 2011 673

1  Composition of the share capital
Number Par value

CHF
Nominal value

CHF 1,000

Total registered shares as at 30 September 2011 763 870 50 38 193
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As at 30 September 2011, the carrying amount of the treasury shares was kCHF 215 (previous year: kCHF 472). The reserve for treasury shares amounts to kCHF 

223 (previous year: kCHF 401).

This conditional capital comprising 11,150 registered shares, each with a par value of CHF 50, was created by resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting on 2 

July 1998 for the payment of rights conferred under the employee stock option plan. As at 30 September 2011, there were no employee stock option programmes.

There was no change in the share capital in financial year 2010/11.
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4  Contingent liabilities in favour of third parties
As at 30 September

2011
CHF 1,000

2010
CHF 1,000

Guarantees and sureties for Group companies 12 338 13 325

Guarantees to Group companies under bank credit lines 120 000 120 000

Subordination clauses in favour of subsidiaries 33 940 34 918

Joint and several liability of group companies re Swiss  
value added tax

p. m. p. m.

5  Carrying amount of investments
As at 30 September

Majority interests 63 380 87 571

Total 63 380 87 571

6  Significant shareholders    

Number  
of shares

Share  
of capital

Share  
of votes

30.09.2011

Artemis Beteiligungen III AG and Michael Pieper 620 426 81.22% 81.22%

Geocent AG 69 538 9.10% 9.10%

30.09.2010

Artemis Beteiligungen III AG and Michael Pieper 239 060 31.30% 31.30%

Bösch & Co. and Fritz Bösch 228 993 29.98% 29.98%

Geocent AG 69 538 9.10% 9.10%

The number of shares relates to the shares actually held.

The change in majority interests is mainly the result of the capital increase at Precision System Parts Taicang, China, the capital reduction at Feintool Technologie 

AG Lyss and the disposal of the BalTec and Afag interests, as well as the liquidation of Mühlemann AG and other smaller companies. A detailed overview of the 

investments can be found on page 106.

Shareholders with a participation in capital or votes of more than 
5% known to the company:
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7  Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and Group Management

a)  
The remuneration for additional services paid to Mr von Witzleben is a payment subsequently decided by the Board of Directors for his services as CEO in 

    financial year 2008/09.
b)  

Michael Pieper announced at the General Meeting on 26 January 2010 that he was retiring from the Board of Directors.
c)  

Michael was elected as a new member of the Board of Directors at the General Meeting on 26 January 2010.

Comments:
1)  Fixed fees including additional compensation for activities on committees, attendance fees and expenses.
2)  Shares are calculated at the average price for the financial year and have a blocking period of 1 to 4 years.
3)  Payments made by the company to state pension schemes (AHV/IV).
4)  Compensation for activities outside BoD mandate.

No collateral, loans or benefits in kind were provided to the members of the Board of Directors in the reporting periods.

7.1 Current members of the Board of Directors  
     (including related parties)                  

Financial year 2010/11      in CHF

Cash  
compen-
sation 1)

Shares/
options 2)

Contributions 
to pension 

plans 3)

Remuneration 
for additional 

services 4) Total

Alexander von Witzleben, Chairman of the Board of Directors 399 000 96 845 -35 160 c) 0 460 685

Monika Löffel-Bösch, Deputy Chairman a) 103 709 0 13 142 0 116 851

Michael Soormann, Deputy Chairman b) 69 500 0 0 0 69 500

Wolfgang Feil, Member 85 000 0 -62 496 c) 0 22 504

Franz Stampfli, Member 57 500 0 6 762 0 64 262

Kurt E. Stirnemann, Member 90 000 0 7 255 0 97 255

Total 804 709 96 845 -70 497 0 831 057

                   

Financial year 2009/10      in CHF

Cash  
compen- 
sation 1)

Shares/
options 2)

Contributions 
to pension 

plans 3)

Remuneration 
for additional 

services 4) Total

Alexander von Witzleben, Chairman of the Board of Directors  258 875 91 052 33 361 157 135 a) 540 423

Monika Löffel-Bösch, Deputy Chairman 122 500 0 15 133 0 137 633

Wolfgang Feil, Member 77 500 0 9 337 0 86 837

Michael Pieper, Member b) 18 333 0 2 147 0 20 480

Michael Soormann, Member c) 46 667 0 0 0 46 667

Franz Stampfli, Member 52 500 0 6 118 0 58 618

Kurt E. Stirnemann, Member 82 500 0 6 457 0 88 957

Total 658 875 91 052 72 553 157 135 979 615

a)  
On 7 April 2011, Monika Löffel announced that she was retiring from the Board of Directors.

b)  
Michael Soormann was appointed Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors as of 24 June 2011.

c)  
Repayments of pension plan contributions in previous years.
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7.2  Current members of the Group Management
       (including related parties)
Financial year 2010/11                                        in CHF                                      

COMPENSATION

Fixed component of salaries 1) 460 000 1 286 281

Variable component of salaries 2) 225 000 506 561

Shares/options 3) 103 686 168 119

Benefits in kind 4) 28 800 85 471

Contributions to pension plans 5) 108 417 261 421

TOTAL 925 903 2 307 853

Comments:
1)  Contractually agreed salary.
2)  Likely bonus in accordance with individual contractual agreements. Payment is made in the new financial year. 
3)  Shares were calculated at the average price in August/September and discounted over the duration of a blocking period (1-4 years). 

 Payment is made in the new financial year. On retirement, the entire package falls due.
4)  Provision of company-owned vehicles and lump-sum expenses.
5)  Payments made by the employer to the state pension schemes (AHV/IV) and the occupational pension scheme

Total compensation was lower in financial year 2010/11 due to the non-replacement of leavers. 

Financial year 2009/10                                         in CHF                                      

COMPENSATION

Fixed component of salaries 1) 460 000 1 757 669

Variable component of salaries 2) 200 000 589 103

Shares/options 3) 103 703 192 020

Benefits in kind  4) 28 800 133 269

Contributions to pension plans  5) 92 621 353 303

TOTAL 885 124 3 025 364

7.3  Former members of the Board of Directors and Group Management (including related parties)

None.

Heinz Loosli
CEO

Group Management
total

Heinz Loosli
CEO

Group Management
total
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8  Shareholdings, options and conversion rights* 2010/11 2009/10

Alexander von Witzleben, Chairman of the Board of Directors 0 1 074

Monika Löffel-Bösch, Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors (until 7.4.2011) 0 532

Michael Soormann, Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors (from 24.6.2011) 0 30

Wolfgang Feil, Member of the Board of Directors 0 0

Franz Stampfli, Member of the Board of Directors 0 0

Kurt E. Stirnemann, Member of the Board of Directors 0 0

Heinz Loosli, CEO 0 695

Thomas Bögli, CFO 0 0

Peter Grosse, Member of the Group Management 0 79

Marc Schori, Member of the Group Management 0 244

Registered shares

9  Risk assessment
Feintool International Holding AG regularly conducts a risk assessment of the Feintool Group in accordance with Art. 663b para. 

12 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. This is based on information from previous years obtained through interviews with key 

persons at individual companies and validated in a workshop. The standardized process is based on a list of risks classified 

into environmental, litigation and information risks. Risks were evaluated in accordance with their probability of occurrence and 

financial impact, and recorded in a risk matrix. In the year under review, these were reviewed and where necessary adapted to 

new circumstances. Both the Group Management and Board of Directors scrutinize the most significant risks and evaluate them 

from a company and group perspective. The risk assessment forms part of the risk management process, which is used to 

monitor and control corporate risks. For that reason, the measures defined for minimizing risk were also validated.     

 * In the context of the takeover bid from Artemis Beteiligungen III AG, the blocking period for all shares of the Group Management and Board of Directors was tem-

porarily suspended in order to give all members the opportunity to tender their total holdings of shares, which they proceeded to do.
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Summary of Consolidated Group Companies 
Consolidated group companies (as at 30 September 2011)

Company Location, country Capital 10/11 09/10

Conso-
lidation 
method

Feintool International Holding AG Lyss, CH CHF 38 193 500 100% 100% Full

Feintool International Management AG Lyss, CH CHF 250 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Intellectual Property AG Lyss, CH CHF 100 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Technologie AG Lyss Lyss, CH CHF 2 000 000 100% 100% Full

       Feintool (Chongquing) Technology Co., Ltd. Chongquing, CN USD 61 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Equipment AG Lyss, CH CHF 100 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool System Parts AG Lyss, CH CHF 200 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Teile & Komponenten AG Lyss Lyss, CH CHF 3 100 00 100% 100% Full

Feintool Precision System Parts (Taicang) Co., Ltd. Taicang, CN USD 850 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Holding GmbH Amberg,  DE EUR 50 000 100% 100% Full

Promera Ettlingen Feinschneidtechnik GmbH  Ettlingen, DE EUR 766 937 100% 100% Full

Promera Jena Feinschneid- und Umformtechnik GmbH Jena, DE EUR 3 068 000 100% 100% Full

IMA Automation Berlin GmbH Berlin, DE EUR 515 000 100% 100% Full

IMA Automation GmbH Amberg, DE EUR 50 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool US Operations, Inc. White Plains, NY, US USD 31 421 631 100% 100% Full

Feintool Cincinnati, Inc. Cincinnati, OH, US USD 3 000 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Equipment Corp.  Cincinnati, OH, US USD 50 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Tennessee, Inc. Nashville, TN, US USD 0 100% 100% Full

Feintool New York, Inc.  White Plains, NY, US USD 500 000 100% 100% Full

    One Holland Avenue Development, LLC Cincinnati, OH, US USD 0 100% 100% Full

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd. Atsugi, JP JPY 225 000 000 100% 100% Full

Feintool Engineering Co., Ltd. Atsugi, JP JPY 400 000 000 100% 100% Full

Heinrich Schmid Maschinen- und Werkzeugbau AG Jona, CH CHF 6 000 000 100% 100% Full

HL Holding AG Lyss, CH CHF 100 000 100% 100% Full

HL Immobilien AG Lyss, CH CHF 5 881 000 100% 100% Full

Vireo GmbH Jena, DE EUR 272 600 100% 100% Full

Columba GmbH Amberg, DE EUR 325 000 100% 100% Full

HL Real Estate Corp. Cincinnati, OH, US USD 290 000 100% 100% Full
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REPORT
In the reporting period, Feintool International Holding AG posted 

financial income of CHF 28.0 million (previous year: CHF 26.1 

million). This comprises interest income of CHF 2.0 million 

(previous year: CHF 3.0 million), income from investments of 

CHF 4.3 million (previous year: CHF 3.3 million), price gains 

on treasury shares of CHF 0.3 million (previous year: CHF 0.2 

million) and currency gains of CHF 21.4 million (previous year: 

CHF 19.6 million).

Other income consists of management fees of CHF 5.8 million 

(previous year: CHF 4.1 million), rental income for the building of 

Mühlemann AG (CHF 0.3 million) and of Afag Huttwil (CHF 0.3 

million) as well as other income of CHF 0.1 million.

The gains on disposal/liquidation of investments result from the 

disposal less disposal costs of the Afag and BalTec companies, 

as well as the liquidation of other smaller companies.

Finance costs rose from CHF 23.8 million in the previous year to 

CHF 26.1 million and comprise interest expense of CHF 1.7 mil-

lion (previous year: CHF 2.2 million), other expenses amounting 

to CHF 3.1 million (previous year: CHF 2.5 million) and currency 

losses of CHF 21.3 million (previous year: CHF 18.8 million). 

A CHF 26.5 million write-down was made on non-current 

financial assets. This write-down relates mainly to the Feintool 

US Operations loan.

Contributions to the management company fell year on year 

(CHF 1.2 million).

The net income of CHF -26.4 million was negatively influenced 

mainly by the write-down of the Feintool US Operations loan as 

well as the absence of dividend income from the subsidiaries.

At the end of the financial year, the equity of Feintool Interna-

tional Holding AG stood at CHF 118.9 million (previous year: 

CHF 145.3 million), corresponding to an equity ratio of 74.9% 

(previous year: 66.2%). 

PROPOSAL
The Board of Directors submits the following proposal for 

appropriation of available earnings to the General Meeting of 

Shareholders:

Report and Proposal of the Board of Directors

30.09.2011
in CHF 

30.09.2010
in CHF

Retained earnings brought forward from the previous year 0 0

Loss for the year -26 420 008 -4 444 892

Accumulated deficit -26 420 008 -4 444 892

Transfer from free reserves 0 4 444 892

Allocation from free reserves from capital contributions 5 162 177 0

Contribution to gen. legal reserves from capital contribution -5 162 177 0

Allocation from gen. legal reserves from capital contributions 3 055 480 0

Dividend distribution from general legal reserves from capi-
tal contribution of CHF 4.00 (previous year: CHF 0.00) gross -3 055 480 0

Carry forward -26 420 008 0



Feintool International Holding AG, Lyss

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying 

financial statements of Feintool International Holding AG, 

which comprise the balance sheet, statement of income and 

notes, on pages 99 to 107, for the year ended 30 September 

2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the 

financial statements in accordance with the requirements of 

Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This 

responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintain-

ing an internal control system relevant to the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. The board of directors is further 

responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 

in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial state-

ments are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 

preparation of the financial statements in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-

tiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-

mates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 30 

September 2011 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 

articles of incorporation.

Report om Other Legal Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing 

according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and indepen-

dence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are 

no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and 

Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 

control system exists, which has been designed for the prep-

aration of financial statements according to the instructions 

of the board of directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of avail-

able earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s 

articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial 

statements submitted to you be approved.

Other Matter
The financial statements of Feintool International Holding 

AG for the year ended 30 September 2010, were audited 

by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on 

those statements on 2 December 2010.

KPMG AG

  

Rolf Hauenstein Peter Stössel

Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit  

Auditor in Charge Expert

Zürich, 29 November 2011

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements 
to the General Meeting of Shareholders 
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Operational corporate structure as of 30 September 2011

Feintool 
Automation

Feintool 
System Parts

Feintool 
Fineblanking
Technology

Chief Executive Officer

Chairman of the Board
of Directors

General Secretariat

Chief Financial Officer

COrPOrATE GOvErnAnCE
We set great store by providing our shareholders, 
customers, investors and other interested parties 
with detailed and transparent information on the 
management, organisation and structure of Feintool 
Group. Good governance is a core component of our  
corporate strategy.

Feintool Technologie AG Lyss (CH)

Heinrich Schmid Maschinen- und 
Werkzeugbau AG (CH)

Feintool Equipment Corp. (US)

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd. Equipment (JP)

Swisstec Feintool Beijing Office (CN)

* At 1 January 2012 Feintool Technologie AG

Feintool System Parts AG (CH)

Feintool Teile & Komponenten AG (CH)

Promera Ettlingen Feinschneidtechnik 
GmbH (DE)

Promera Jena Feinschneid- und Um-
formtechnik GmbH (DE)

Feintool Cincinnati, Inc. (US)

Feintool Tennessee, Inc. (US)

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd. System Parts 
(JP-Tokoname)

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd. System Parts 
(JP-Atsugi)

Feintool Precision System Parts 
(Taicang) Co., Ltd. (CN)

IMA Automation Amberg GmbH (DE)

IMA Automation Berlin GmbH (DE)

Feintool International Holding AG (CH)

Feintool International Management AG (CH)
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1. COrPOrATE STrUCTUrE 

1.1.1 Operational corporate structure
Feintool‘s operational management structure can be 
found in the diagram on the opposite page.

The division of responsibilities between the Board of 
Directors, CEO and Group Management is explained in 
section 3.6. Further information, such as the current 
Articles of Incorporation of the Feintool Group, can 
be found online at www.feintool.com/en/investors/
corporate-governance.

1.1.2 Listed company

Name: Feintool International Holding AG, 
3250 Lyss (Switzerland)

Place of listing: SIX Swiss Exchange

Swiss security no.: 932009

ISIN: CH0009320091

Telekurs: FTON

Reuters: FTONn.S

Stock market  
capitalization:

CHF 244 438 400.– 
(as at 30 September 2011)

A table giving an overview of key share prices and as-
sociated market capitalizations, as well as share price 
performance, can be found on pages 38/39 of this 
annual report. 

763,870 registered shares were in circulation as at 
30 September 2011. The spring 2011 acquisition of 
the majority of Feintool‘s shares by Artemis Beteili-
gungen III AG, which is controlled by Michael Pieper, 
saw the number of shareholders decrease from 1,656 
(as at 30 September 2010) to 543 as at 30 Septem-
ber 2011. The free float amounted to 9.7% as at 30 
September 2011. None of the subsidiary companies is 
listed. The subsidiaries that are included in the scope 
of consolidation of Feintool International Holding AG 
are listed on page 106.

1.2 Major shareholders

Name Percentage ownership of total 
equity

Michael Pieper & Artemis 
Beteiligungen III AG 81.2%

Geocent AG   9.1%

In connection with the public tender offer for Feintool 
made by Artemis Beteiligungen III AG on 31 January 
2011, several disclosures of interest as per Art. 20 
of the Swiss Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and 
Securities Trading (SESTA) were submitted to SIX 
Swiss Exchange Regulation by the end of the offer 
period. Specifically, this concerned the acquisition of 
the majority of Feintool‘s shares by Artemis Beteili-
gungen III AG as well as the reduction in the stake of 
Fritz F. Bösch and Bösch & Co., which until then was 
the second biggest shareholder (previously 30.3%), to 
below the 3% reporting threshold.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
Feintool International Holding AG does not have any 
cross-shareholdings.

2. CAPITAL STrUCTUrE

2.1 Ordinary share capital
As at 30 September 2011, the share capital of Feintool 
International Holding AG amounted to CHF 38,193,500, 
comprising 763,870 fully paid-up registered shares 
with a par value of CHF 50 each. Feintool International 
Holding AG held no outstanding convertible bonds or 
options on 30 September 2011.

2.2 Authorized and conditional capital 
The company had no authorized capital as at 30 
September 2011.
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Conditional capital for stock options 
plans (as at 30 September 2011)
In accordance with Art. 3b, para. 2 of the Articles of 
Incorporation (www.feintool.com/en/investors/cor-
porate-governance), the share capital is to increase, 
to the exclusion of the subscription rights of existing 
shareholders, by a maximum of CHF 557,500 through 
the issue of a maximum of 11,150 registered shares to 
be fully paid up and with a par value of CHF 50 each 
(stock option plan). However, the stock options were 
not issued. For further details on the capital struc-
ture, please see page 94ff, and Page 101/102 of the 
Financial Report.

2.3 Changes in capital 

Share capital

Date Action Type of Capital number Par value
Increase/
Decrease Capital

number of 
shares

30.09.2008 increased from cond. capital  33 917 50 1 695 850 37 252 050 745 041

08.04.2009 increased from cond. capital  15 692 50 784 600 38 036 650 760 733

03.07.2009 increased from cond. capital  3 137 50 156 850 38 193 500 763 870

30.09.2010 held 38 193 500 763 870

30.09.2011 held 38 193 500 763 870

Conditional capital, stock option plan

Date Action Type of Capital number Par value
Increase/
Decrease Capital

number of 
shares

30.09.2008 held conditional capital 714 350 14 287

03.07.2009 decreased from cond. capital  3 137 50 -156 850 557 500 11 150

03.07.2009 held conditional capital  557 500 11 150

30.09.2010 held conditional capital 557 500 11 150

30.09.2011 held conditional capital 557 500 11 150

For details of financial years prior to 2008, please 
refer to the 2007/2008 Annual Report, page 121 
onwards.
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2.4 Shares 
The 763,870 registered shares of Feintool International 
Holding AG have a par value of CHF 50 each. One regis-
tered share corresponds to one vote. There are no voting 
right restrictions, and there are no voting or preference 
shares (unitary share structure). Feintool International 
Holding AG does not have any participation capital.

2.5 Dividend right certificates
Feintool International Holding AG does not have any 
dividend right certificates.
 
2.6.1. Limitations on transferability and nominee 
registrations
In accordance with Art. 4 of the Articles of Incor-
poration the voting rights attaching to shares and 
other rights that accompany voting rights may only 
be exercised by those recorded in the share register 
as voting shareholders. The Board of Directors may 
refuse registration as a shareholder with voting rights 
if an acquirer of shares does not expressly declare on 
request that he has acquired the shares in his own 
name and for his own account. 

2.6.2 Granting of exceptions
No exceptions to the above limitations on transfer-
ability were granted during the year under review.

2.6.3 Procedures and conditions for cancelling 
privileges and transfer restrictions laid down in 
the Articles of Incorporation
As stated in section 2.6.1, there are no privileges or 
restrictions with regard to transferability, with the 
exception of the nominee registrations clause. Any 
amendment to these provisions (easing or limitation) 
requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the votes 
represented and an absolute majority of the share par 
values represented (Art. 12 of the Articles of Incorpo-
ration).



Board of Directors, 
Feintool International Holding AG
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ALExAnDEr vOn WITzLEBEn  
(B. 1963, GErMAn nATIOnAL)

Position:
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Committees:
Member of the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee and the Audit Committee

Qualifications:
Studied economics at the University of Passau

Professional background:
 >  1990–1993 KPMG Deutsche Treuhandgesell-  
 schaft, Munich (Germany): Lead Auditor
>  1993–2007 Jenoptik AG, Jena (Germany): firstly  
 as Chief Financial Officer, then Chief Executive  
 Officer from 2004
>  2007–2008 Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg  
 (Germany): Member of the Management Board
>  Since 20 January 2009 Feintool International  
 Holding AG, Lyss (Switzerland): Chairman of the  
 Board of Directors 

 Other activities and commitments:
>  Chairman of the Supervisory Board of PVA 
  Tepla AG, Wettenberg (Germany)
>  Chairman of the Supervisory Board of VERBIO  
 Vereinigte BioEnergie AG, Leipzig (Germany)
>  Member of the Supervisory Board of Siegwerk  
 Druckfarben AG & Co. KGaA, Siegburg (Germany)
>  Member of the Advisory Board of Kaefer Isolier- 
 technik GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen (Germany)
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Dr MICHAEL SOOrMAnn 
(B. 1958, GErMAn nATIOnAL)

Position:
Member of the Board of Directors; 
since 24 June 2011 Deputy Chairman

Committees:
Chairman of the Nomination and Compensation
Committee and member of the Audit Committee

Qualifications:
Degree in commerce from the University of Erlangen–
Nürnberg (Nuremberg), 1984, doctorate in political 
science (Dr. sc. pol.) from the University of Kiel, 1988

Professional background:
>  1988–1992 Business Consultant, Treuarbeit 

GmbH/Coopers & Lybrand, Hamburg/Berlin  
(Germany)

>  1992–1994 Internal Auditing, Sandoz AG, Nurem-
berg (Germany)

>  1994–2004 CFO and General Manager of MBT 
Deutschland/Degussa Construction Chemicals 
Schweiz AG, Zurich

>  2004–2007 Administrative General Manager, 
Degussa Construction Chemicals Europe, Zurich

>  2007–2009 Director, Franke Artemis Gruppe, 
Hergiswil

>  since 2010: Member of the Group Management of 
Franke Artemis Holding AG, Aarburg

Other activities and commitments:
>  Chairman of the Board of Directors of Reppisch 

Werke AG, Dietikon
>  Member of the Board of Directors of Hello AG, 

Basel
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Position:
Member of the Board of Directors

Committees:
Member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
and Compensation Committee

Qualifications:
Training in the foreign trade and transport sector and
in business management, University of Stuttgart, 1974

Professional background:
>  1980–2002 Managing Director of Schuler SMG 

GmbH, Waghäusel (Germany)
>  1989–1999 Managing Director of Schuler GmbH, 

Göppingen (Germany)
>  1999–2002 Member of the Board of Directors and 

Management Board of Schuler AG (responsible 
for strategic business areas of Hydraulic Forming 
Systems and Hydroforming)

>  2002–2009 COO of the Hofkammer des Hauses 
Württemberg, Friedrichshafen (Germany)

WOLFGAnG FEIL  
(B. 1944, GErMAn nATIOnAL)

Other activities and commitments:
>  Member of the Advisory Board of Paul Hartmann 

AG, Heidenheim (Germany)
>  Chairman of the Advisory Board of Hubert Schlieck-

mann GmbH, Marienfeld (Germany)
> Member of the Advisory Board of Hirschvogel Hol-

ding GmbH, Denklingen (Germany)

116 | 



Corporate Governance  Board of Directors | 117  

Position:
Member of the Board of Directors

Committees:
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Qualifications:
Graduated as a mechanical engineer (Dipl.-Ing.) from
ETH Zurich; subsequently obtained a docorate
(Dr. sc. techn.).

Professional background:
>   1977–1990 Various senior positions in Production 

as well as in Research & Development at Rieter AG, 
Winterthur; from 1988: Chief Executive Officer

>  1990–1996 CEO of AGIE AG, Losone & Agie Group
>  1996–1998 Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

Agie Charmilles Holding AG, Zug; Member of the 
Executive Committee of Georg Fischer AG

>  1998–2003 Head of the Georg Fischer Manufactu-
ring Technology Corporate Group (Agie Charmilles); 
Member of the Executive Committee

>  2003–2008 CEO and Delegate to the Board of 
Directors of Georg Fischer AG, Schaffhausen

Dr KUrT E. STIrnEMAnn  
(B.1943, SWISS nATIOnAL)

Other activities and commitments:
>   Member of the Board of Directors of Georg Fischer 

AG, Schaffhausen
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Position:
Member of the Board of Directors (until the Annual
General Meeting FY 2010/11)

Qualifications:
Studied business management and law; graduated
with a lic. rer. pol. degree from the University of Bern

Professional background:
> 1989–1999 DEC Digital Equipment Corporation, 

Bern, various sales positions; from 1997: Director 
of Sales for the Bern region; from 1998: also a 
member of the Executive Board for Switzerland

>  1999–2009 Alcatel Switzerland AG, Zurich, initially 
in various management roles; from 2003: Chief 
Executive Officer and Delegate to the Board of 
Directors of Alcatel Switzerland AG, Zurich

FrAnz STAMPFLI  
(B. 1954, SWISS nATIOnAL)

Other activities and commitments:
>  Chairman of the Board of Directors of ewb, Bern
>  Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bigla AG, 

Biglen
>  Chairman of the Board of Directors of casacom AG, 

Freienbach
>  Chairman of openaxs (federation of Swiss electrical 

utilities for the promotion of broadband networks)
>  Member of the Board of Directors of tm concept, 

Aarau
> Member of the Board of Directors of switchplus, 

Zurich
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Position:  
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors  
(until 7 April 2011)

Committees:
Chairman of the Nomination and Compensation  
Committee (until 7 April 2011)

Qualifications:
Commercial training and continuing education

Professional background:
>  Responsible for finance and administration at 
 Löffel + Bänziger AG, Lyss
>  Delegate to the Board of Directors of Bigla AG,  
 Biglen
>  Managing Director and member of the Board of  
 Directors of Amseltal AG, Lyss
>  Managing Director of Bösch & Co., Lyss

MOnIKA LöFFEL-BöSCH 
(B. 1960, SWISS nATIOnAL)

Other activities and commitments:
>  Member of the Board of Directors of Bigla 
 Management AG, Biglen
>  Member of the Board of the Education of the Bern  
 University of Applied Sciences, Bern
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3.3 Cross-involvement (removed)

3.4.1 Election and term of office; principles of the 
election procedure and restrictions on term of 
office
At the Annual General Meeting on 25 January 2011, the 
term of office for members of the Board of Directors was 
reduced from three years to one year (Art. 14 of the Ar-
ticles of Incorporation). Members elected before this date 
continue to serve for the three years until the end of their 
period in office. For this purpose, one year is understood 
to be the period from one Annual General Meeting to 
the next. There are no restrictions on the re-election of 
members of the Board of Directors.

In accordance with Art. 3.1 of the Organizational 
Regulations, the Board of Directors should comprise 
individuals with business experience and an entrepre-
neurial mindset. The criteria for new elections to the 
Board of Directors are determined by the Compensation 
and Nomination Committee. It prepares the choice of 
candidates in accordance with the list of criteria that has 
been drawn up. No age limits apply for members of the 
Board of Directors. Following the amendment to Art. 14 
of the Articles of Association (www.feintool.com/inves-
toren/corporate-governance), the members of the Board 
of Directors are elected for one year. All members stand 
for election.

3.4.2 Initial election and remaining term of office 
of each member

name
Member 

since

Term expires at 
AGM of financial 

year

Alexander von Witzleben 1998 2011/2012

Dr Michael Soormann 2010 2011/2012

Wolfgang Feil 2003 2010/2011

Franz Stampfli 2007 2010/2011

Dr Kurt E. Stirnemann 2008 2010/2011

Monika Löffel-Bösch 1995 07.04.2011

3.5 Internal organizational structure
 
3.5.1 Distribution of responsibilities on the Board 
of Directors 
At its first meeting after the AGM, the Board of 
Directors elects a Chairman and Deputy Chair-
man, and also appoints the Secretary, who is not 
required to be a member of the Board of Directors. 
In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors leads the General 
Meeting and heads the Board of Directors, which 
makes decisions as a collective body. In the report-
ing period, Alexander von Witzleben held the office 
of Chairman. Monika Löffel-Bösch served as Deputy 
Chairman until she stepped down on 7 April 2011. At 
the meeting of the Board of Directors on 24 June, Dr 
Michael Soormann was appointed her successor. The 
term of office of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman 
corresponds to their terms of office as members of 
the Board of Directors, unless specified otherwise by 
a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

3.5.2. Secretary to the Board of Directors
Dr Matthias Hartz was appointed as Secretary to the 
Board of Directors with effect from 1 October 2009. 
In this role, he oversees legal matters of concern to 
the Board of Directors and all other corporate bodies 
in Switzerland and abroad. Furthermore, he heads the 
Feintool Group’s legal department.

A corporate lawyer with an international track record, 
Dr Hartz is also the Chief Compliance Officer. His 
career milestones include positions at Munich Re, 
at DaimlerChrysler Group/EADS, and at Techtronic 
Industries Group in Hong Kong.
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 3.5.3 Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee
The current members of the Audit Committee are Dr 
Kurt E. Stirnemann (Chairman), Alexander von Witzle-
ben, Dr Michael Soormann and Wolfgang Feil.

The Audit Committee submits draft proposals to the 
Board of Directors on the following issues: 

> Coordinating external auditors; instructing the  
 internal auditors 
> monitoring financial reporting and overseeing 
  auditors (quarterly discussion of financial reporting  
 with the CEO and CFO; monthly discussions 
  between the Chairman of the Committee and the  
 CFO; discussion of interim results with the CEO and  
 CFO; discussion of annual financial statements with  
 auditors)
> analysing and assessing possible weak points in  
 the financial reporting results and the internal  
 control system (ICS)
> assessing the functionality of the internal control  
 system
> proposing the commissioning of special audits to  
 the Board of Directors 
> monitoring the company‘s credit and cash flow 
  situation and business relationships with banks
> selecting and proposing external advisors

Compensation and nomination Committee
The current members of the Compensation and Nomi-
nation Committee are Dr Michael Soormann (Chair-
man), Alexander von Witzleben and Wolfgang Feil. 

The Compensation and Nomination Committee submits 
draft proposals to the Board of Directors on the follow-
ing issues: 

> laying down the principles to be followed in relation  
 to compensation for the Board of Directors and  
 Group Management
> ensuring the termination provisions contained in 
 the employment contracts of members of Group  
 Management are commensurate with market condi-
 tions and provide protection for the company
> verifying that compensation paid is in line with 
 market rates and performance standards and 
 proposing the level of compensation due in each  
 case
> verifying and authorizing any internal business 
 between senior executives or persons closely 
 associated with them and companies in the Feintool  
 Group 

In reporting year 2010/2011, the Compensation and 
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee as-
sumed their responsibilities in accordance with the 
respective regulations.

3.5.4 Working methods of the Board of Directors 
and its committees
In accordance with Art. 3.5 of the Organizational Regu-
lations, the Board of Directors meets at least four times 
a year, for one day on each occasion. In the reporting 
period, the Board of Directors held eight detailed meet-
ings. The CEO and CFO attended nearly all of these. 
Members of Group Management attended the meetings 
most relevant to them. 



122 | 

The Audit Committee met four times and the Nomination 
and Compensation Committee three times in the period 
under review. These meetings usually last half a day 
and are in preparation for the next meeting of the Board 
of Directors. Both committees meet as required, but at 
least two detailed meetings must take place for each 
committee each year. All proposals arising from both 
committees were discussed at the regular meetings of 
the Board of Directors.

3.6 Division of responsibilities between the 
Board of Directors and Group Management 
In accordance with Art. 15 of the Articles of Incor-
poration, the Board of Directors is the supreme body 
of the company with responsibility for supervising its 
operations. It represents the company externally and 
deals with all matters not assigned by law, the Articles 
of Incorporation or the Organizational Regulations to 
any other corporate body. In accordance with Art. 
6.6 of the Organizational Regulations, the Board of 
Directors delegates overall management to the CEO, 
where permitted under the law and provided such re-
sponsibilities are not expressly assigned to the Board 
of Directors. The Board of Directors’ responsibilities 
include decisions statutorily assigned to it regarding 
financial and information policies as well as decisions 
relating to investments, cooperation agreements, con-
tracts, real estate and participations, provided such 
decisions are of special significance to the company 
and that they exceed a specified scale, together with 
resolutions concerning internal and external auditing.
The CEO’s responsibilities include the management 
of the company’s operations, as well as drawing up 
requisite remits, directives and guidelines within the 
framework of the organizational structure approved 
by the Board of Directors. The CEO is responsible for 
managing and organizing Group Management and 
represents the latter in dealings with the Board of Di-
rectors, the general public and the authorities. Group 
Management as a whole supports the CEO in his man-
agement of the company‘s operations. The business 

unit heads manage their units under the direct line 
management of the CEO. Under the guidance of the 
CEO, Group Management determines binding, group-
wide management instruments (planning, accounting, 
management information systems, controlling) and is 
responsible for developing the corporate culture. It is 
also responsible for developing and periodically re-
viewing the corporate strategy and for producing and 
implementing annual projections. Group Management 
prepares information on all matters that fall under the 
responsibility of the Board of Directors and is also re-
sponsible for ensuring that the Board‘s resolutions are 
implemented. In the reporting period, Group Manage-
ment held nine full-day meetings.

3.7 Information and control instruments 
of the Group Management
At its meetings, all members of the Board of Direc-
tors, in addition to the CEO and the other members of 
Group Management, have an obligation to provide the 
required information. At such meetings, the Chairman 
informs the other members of the Board of Directors 
about his activities; and in each case the CEO reports 
on current business developments, and the CFO com-
ments on financial reporting. 

As part of the Feintool Group’s Management Informa-
tion System (MIS), members of the Board of Directors 
receive a monthly report from Group Management 
informing them about the financial and business 
situation of the company and relevant company seg-
ments. This report contains information on market and 
sector developments and risks, as well as the income 
statement, key figures (sales, EBIT, orders received 
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and orders backlog, among others), important interim 
balance sheet data and detailed quarterly, interim and 
annual financial statements, which are then comment-
ed on by the CEO and CFO at meetings held specifi-
cally for this purpose. This includes a data comparison 
with the prior years and with the budgeted figures. 
Between meetings, the CEO also informs the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors about extraordinary 
events, either by telephone or in writing.

Between meetings of the Board of Directors, each 
member may ask the CEO to provide information at 
any time regarding the performance of the business 
and, with the approval of the Chairman, regarding 
individual transactions; members may also request 
the inspection of business documents. Such requests 
should be forwarded to the Chairman in writing.

Internal Audit
The internal audit unit concentrates on areas of opera-
tional and strategic risk management in addition to the 
internal control system. It conducts group-wide audits, 
analyses and interviews. The annual audit schedule is 
approved by the Audit Committee in cooperation with 
the external auditors. The internal audit unit reports 
regularly to the Audit Committee on a project-related 

basis, either in writing or verbally. Internal audit 
activities are carried out on an external mandate to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich. Coordination of 
its activities is assured in the short term by the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors and the CFO. 

Following the end of the reporting period, the Board 
of Directors has decided to continue to award internal 
audit tasks to an external auditor.

4. GrOUP MAnAGEMEnT

4.1 Members of Group Management
As of 30 September 2011, Group Management com-
prises four members (see page 124 ff.). The manage-
ment structure can be found in the organizational 
chart shown in section 1.1.1 of this report on page 
110. 

4.2 Management contracts
There are no management contracts between the 
Feintool Group and third parties.
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Group Management

HEInz LOOSLI 
(B. 1954, SWISS nATIOnAL)

Dr. THOMAS F. BöGLI 
(B. 1956, SWISS nATIOnAL)

Position:
CEO of the Feintool Group and Head of the Feintool
System Parts segment

Qualifications:
Engineer (dipl. ing. HTL), qualified marketing and sales 
specialist and Stanford Executive Program (SEP)

Professional background:
>  1978–1994 Schlatter AG: Sales Manager (1978–

1984), Country Manager – China (1985–1988), 
Head of Automation profit centre (1988–1993)

>  1994–1996 Ascom Autelca AG: Head of Ticketing 
division

>  With Feintool Group since 1996, initially as Head of 
Presses and Systems at Feintool AG Lyss and later 
of Feintool System Parts

>  Since 1 October 2009: CEO of the Feintool Group

Position:
CFO of the Feintool Group

Qualifications:
Dr. oec. publ. in Business Management from the
University of Zurich

Professional background:
>   1984–1989 F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Basel: Control-

ler
>  1990–1992 Netstal–Maschinen AG, Näfels: CFO
>  1992–1994 Studer Revox AG, Regensdorf: CFO
> 1995–2000 COS Computer Systems AG, Baden: 

CFO
>  2001–2004 Von Roll Holding AG, Gerlafingen: CFO
>  2004–2008 Nobel Biocare Holding AG, Kloten: 

CFO
>  Since 1 October 2009: CFO of the Feintool Group
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PETEr GrOSSE 
(B. 1959, GErMAn nATIOnAL)

Position:
Head of Feintool Fineblanking Technology segment

Qualifications:
Engineer (Dipl.-Ing. HTL); Studied mechanical engi-
neering at the Higher Technical Institute in Biel/Bienne

Professional background:
>  1997–2000 Feintool Technologie AG, Lyss: Engi-

neering Project Manager and Japan Coordinator
>  2000–2006 Saia-Burgess, Murten/Morat: Head of 

the Automotive Competence Centre; Development, 
Product Management and Project Management

>  2006–2009 Feintool Technologie AG, Lyss: Head 
of Technology Centre and member of Group 

 Management
>  Since 2009: Head of Feintool Fineblanking 
 Technology segment

Position:
Head of Feintool Automation segment 

Qualifications:
Engineer (Dipl.-Ing. TH), studied electrical engineering
at Madgeburg Technical University (Germany)

Professional background:
>  1984–1986: Scientific assistant at Technical Uni-

versity Ilmenau (Germany)
>  1988–1990 Nordson GmbH, Erkath (Germany): 

Automotive Product Manager
>  1990–1992 Adcole Gesellschaft für Messtechnik 

mbH, Recklinghausen (Germany): Technical Coordi-
nator, subsequently Sales Manager Europe

>  1992–2000 Gebrüder HAAKE GmbH, Karlsruhe (Ger-
many): Various positions, including International Head 
of Sales and Head of Research and Development, 
subsequently Head of the Rheometer Business Unit

>  2001–2002 Tiede Rissprüfanlagen GmbH, Essin-
gen (Germany): Managing Director

>  2002–2004 Colortronic GmbH, Friedrichdorf (Ger-
many): Managing Director

> Since 2005: Managing Director of IMA Automation 
Amberg GmbH; since 1 June 2009: Head of Auto-
mation segment in the Feintool Group

MArC SCHOrI 
(B. 1972, SWISS nATIOnAL)
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5. COMPEnSATIOn, SHArEHOLDInGS AnD LOAnS 

5.1 Content and method of determining compen-
sation and stock option plans

5.1.1 Board of Directors
Based on a proposal from the Compensation and 
Nomination Committee, the Board of Directors deter-
mines at its end-year meeting the level of compensa-
tion paid to its members on the basis of their activities 
and responsibilities, while taking due account of 
prevailing market and industry levels for the metal-
working industry. The compensation sums proposed 
by the Compensation and Nomination Committee are 
determined in advance on an individual basis, and by 
agreement with the principal shareholder.
In financial year 2010/11, no external advisors were 
consulted when determining then compensation and 
stock option plans of the Board of Directors. There 
were no changes compared to previous years. The 
compensation concept remained unchanged.

The compensation paid to members of the Board 
of Directors consists of a fixed component plus the 
lump-sum reimbursement of expenses and an at-
tendance fee. The Chairman of the Board of Directors 
additionally receives part of his compensation in the 
form of shares (with blocking period) as well as a 
bonus, which is based on the company’s results. With 
Monika Löffel, who was Deputy Chairman until 7 April 
2011, no special provision or “golden parachute” was 
agreed.
 
5.1.2 Group Management
Compensation paid to members of Group Management 
is based on a fixed proportion of each individual’s 
salary (fixed component). Every two to three years, 

Feintool commissions Kienbaum AG, Zurich, to review 
Group Management’s compensation in comparison 
with the external labour market. The peer group com-
prises internationally active industrial companies with 
a similar structure and of a similar size, with a focus 
on systems construction and mechanical engineer-
ing as well as automotive suppliers. The comparison 
includes basic, overall and direct compensation as 
well as selected fringe benefits (occupational pension, 
company car and lump-sum expenses).

In addition, the amount of compensation is determined 
directly by the attainment of targets and performance 
of each member of Group Management, as well as 
the financial performance of the company (variable 
component).

Compensation consists of:
> a fixed basic salary; 
> a performance-related bonus; 
> shares;
> fringe benefits (company cars, management 
   insurance cover). 

The performance-related bonus is determined on 
the basis of operating results (EBIT) and the degree 
to which annually agreed individual objectives have 
been achieved. It is based on a ratio of operating to 
personal targets of approximately 70:30 and is very 
similar for each member of Group Management except 
the CEO. The bonus of the CEO is entirely calculated 
according to the EBIT of the Feintool Group. Further 
details can be found on page 103 of the Financial 
Report. 
The variable component of the compensation paid to 
the members of the Group Management was between 
30 and 65% of the fixed salary component.
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The Compensation and Nomination Committee deter-
mines the performance-related bonus of the CEO on 
the basis of the contractual agreement. In the case 
of the other members of the Group Management, the 
Compensation and Nomination Committee determines 
the performance-related bonus following proposals 
submitted by the CEO on the basis of the respective 
contractual agreements. This is reported to the Board 
of Directors at its annual meeting at the end of each 
year. Members of the Group Management do not 
attend the meetings. In financial year 2010/11, it was 
also the case that no external advisors were consulted 
when determining the compensation and stock option 
plans of Group Management.

In financial year 2004/05, the Board of Directors 
extended the existing bonus share scheme for Group 
Management into a set of “Regulations for the issue of 
employee shares and options to members of the Board 
of Directors and Senior Executives”. Detailed informa-
tion on the level and composition of compensation for 
the Board of Directors and the Group Management 
can be found in the Financial Statements on pages 
103-105.

6. SHArEHOLDErS’ PArTICIPATIOn rIGHTS

6.1 voting right restrictions and proxies
In accordance with Art. 10 of the Articles of Incor-
poration, each share carries one vote. Only those 
shareholders entered in the share register are entitled 
to vote at the Annual General Meeting. A shareholder 
may opt to be represented at the Annual General 
Meeting by a portfolio proxy, the corporate proxy, the 
independent proxy, his own legal representative or an-
other shareholder who is entered in the share register 
and attends the Annual General Meeting. The proxy 
must be given written power of attorney. Attending 
members of the Board of Directors shall decide on the 
recognition of proxies.

6.2 Statutory quorums
In principle, all resolutions at the Annual General Meet-
ing are made by simple majority. In the event of a tied 
vote, the Chairman casts the deciding vote. In accor-
dance with Art. 704 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, 
a two-thirds majority of votes submitted plus a simple 
majority of the share values represented is required for 
any changes to be made to share classes or transfer-
ability restrictions. 

6.3 Convocation of the Annual General Meeting 
In accordance with Art. 9 of the Articles of Incorpora-
tion, the Annual General Meeting must be convened at 
least 20 days in advance by publication of a notice in 
the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce. In addition, 
registered shareholders will receive a written invitation.
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6.4 Agenda items
Shareholders who individually or jointly hold at least 
10% of the share capital, or shareholders representing 
shares with a par value of at least CHF 1 million, may 
request the inclusion of a particular item for discus-
sion, at the latest 40 calendar days prior to the Annual 
General Meeting. Such items must be submitted in 
writing, citing the item for discussion and the propos-
als.

6.5 Entries in the share register
In accordance with Art. 10 of the Articles of Incorpo-
ration, all shareholders entered in the share register 
with voting rights, together with registered nominees, 
are entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting and 
to vote. For organizational reasons, the closing date 
for entries in the share register is 11 days before the 
Annual General Meeting (the share register status on 
this date is used to determine the voting and repre-
sentation ratios at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting).   

7. COnTrOL AnD DEFEnCE MEASUrES

7.1 Opting up
Opting up at Feintool International Holding AG is gov-
erned by the current legal conditions described in Art. 
32 of the Swiss Federal Stock Exchange Act (SESTA). 
The Articles of Incorporation do not contain any provi-
sion regarding opting out or opting up.  

7.2 Clauses on changes of control
No clauses on change of control were agreed for the 
benefit of the topmost management. 

8. AUDITOrS

8.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of 
the auditor in charge
At the Annual General Meeting held on 25 January 
2011, KPMG AG, Zurich, were elected as statutory 
auditors. Rolf Hauenstein is the auditor in charge.

8.2 Auditors’ fees
In the year under review, the audit fees charged by 
KPMG AG in respect of the 2010/11 financial state-
ments amounted to CHF 407,000.

8.3 Additional fees
In the year under review, KMPG AG was paid a total 
of CHF 24,000 for additional services. These services 
comprise support with the interim report, IFRS and 
other advice.

8.4 Information instruments of the external  
auditors
The external and group auditors are supervised by the 
Audit Committee. The auditors attended two meetings 
of the Audit Committee. KPMG AG provides the Board 
of Directors with a comprehensive report on the results 
of its annual audit. At the end of the financial year, the 
Audit Committee, with the CEO and CFO also in at-
tendance, discusses the comprehensive report and the 
auditors’ report with the auditors.

External auditors are appointed following a tender 
process. They are elected at the General Meeting from 
proposals submitted by the Board of Directors. As well 
as the minimum legal requirements, selection criteria 
include relevant qualifications, sector experience and 
the price/performance ratio. The auditor in charge from 
KPMG AG is replaced every seven years in accordance 
with the statutory regulations.
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9. InFOrMATIOn POLICY

Feintool maintains close and regular contact with 
shareholders, the media, analysts and investors. The 
company provides regular information on business 
performance in the form of press releases and holds 
at least two press conferences per year. In the period 
1 October 2010 to 30 September 2011, 26 press 
releases were published. We welcome works visits 
from interested parties. Furthermore, at least once a 
year, we offer the financial community the opportunity 
to gain a direct insight into our business at one of our 
manufacturing sites. 

Shareholders in Feintool International Holding AG 
receive the interim and annual report on request, and 
are regularly informed about new corporate develop-
ments of interest to them in the form of shareholder 
letters. In financial year 2010/11, such letters were 
sent at the end of the first half of the financial year 
and at the end of the financial year. 

The company’s website www.feintool.com was 
redesigned in 2010 in order to achieve even greater 
transparency. The latest corporate information can be 
found under “News” (http://www.feintool.com/en/
investors/news). Furthermore, you can subscribe to 
this information by filling out the contact form on the 
website (http://www.feintool.com/en/investors/con-
tact/contact-form). Annual reports, dates and other 
useful information can also be found at  
www.feintool.com.

9.1. Change to the financial year
At its meeting of 30 August 2011, the Board of Direc-
tors decided that the financial year, which until now 
ran from 1 October to 30 September, should in future 
correspond to the calendar year. The transitional 
phase will see an abridged financial year run from 
1 October 2011 to 31 December 2011, at the end of 
which a short report will be issued.

The next regular (2012) financial year begins on  
1 January 2012 and ends on 31 December of the 
same year. The dates for the financial reporting and 
the Annual General Meeting for the 2012 financial 
year will change accordingly and can be found on the 
website (www.feintool.com/en/investors/ir-calendar). 
Further details are listed in the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements on page 54 of the 
Financial Report.  
  

10. MAJOr CHAnGES SInCE BALAnCE SHEET 
DATE
None



Addresses of our operating companies 
As at 30 September 2011 

Company Address Phone/Fax Internet

Switzerland

Feintool International Holding AG Industriering 8 
CH-3250 Lyss

Phone +41 (0)32 387 51 11  
Fax +41 (0)32 387 57 81

feintool-fim@feintool.com 
www.feintool.com

Feintool International  
Management AG

Industriering 8  
CH-3250 Lyss

Phone +41 (0)32 387 51 11 
Fax +41 (0)32 387 57 81

feintool-fim@feintool.com 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Technologie AG Lyss Industriering 3 
CH-3250 Lyss

Phone +41 (0)32 387 51 11 
Fax +41 (0)32 387 57 80

feintool-ftl@feintool.com 
www.feintool.com

Heinrich Schmid Maschinen- und 
Werkzeugbau AG

Grünfeldstrasse 25 
CH-8645 Jona

Phone +41 (0)55 225 21 11 
Fax +41 (0)55 225 24 04

info@schmidpress.com 
www.schmidpress.com

Feintool System Parts AG Industriering 8 
CH-3250 Lyss

Phone +41 (0)32 387 51 11 
Fax +41 (0)32 387 57 82

feintool-fsp@feintool.com 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Teile & Komponenten AG  
Lyss

Industriering 53 
CH-3250 Lyss

Phone +41 (0)32 387 51 11 
Fax +41 (0)32 387 57 79

feintool-tkl@feintool.com 
www.feintool.com

Europe

Promera Ettlingen  
Feinschneidtechnik GmbH

Englerstrasse 18 
DE-76275 Ettlingen

Phone +49 (0)7243 320 20 
Fax +49 (0)7243 320 240

info@promera.de 
www.feintool.com

Promera Jena Feinschneid- und 
 Umformtechnik GmbH

Löbstedter Strasse 85 
DE-07745 Jena

Phone +49 (0)3641 506 100 
Fax +49 (0)3641 506 300

info@promera-jena.de 
www.feintool.com

IMA Automation Amberg GmbH Wernher-von-Braun-Str. 5 
DE-92224 Amberg

Phone +49 (0)9621 608 0 
Fax +49 (0)9621 608 290

sales-amberg@ima-automa-
tion.de; www.feintool.com

IMA Automation Berlin GmbH Landsberger Strasse 252 
DE-12623 Berlin

Phone +49 (0)3098 307 211 
Fax +49 (0)3098 307 220

sales-berlin@ima-automati-
on.de; www.feintool.com
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Company Address Tel./Fax Internet

America

Feintool Equipment Corp. 6833 Creek Road 
US-Cincinnati, OH 45242

Phone +1 513 791 00 66 
Fax +1 513 791 15 89

fec@feintool-usa.com 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Cincinnati, Inc. 11280 Cornell Park Drive 
US-Cincinnati, OH 45242

Phone +1 513 247 40 61 
Fax +1 513 247 00 60

sales@feintool-usa.com 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Tennessee, Inc. 2930 Old Franklin Road 
US-Antioch, TN 37013

Phone +1 615 641 77 70 
Fax +1 615 641 79 95

sales@feintool-usa.com 
www.feintool.com

Asia

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd.  
(Equipment)

260-53, Yanagi-Machi Hase 
JP-Atsugi City, Kanagawa Pref. 243

Phone +81 (0)46 247 74 51-2 
Fax +81 (0)46 247 20 08

feintool@feintool.co.jp 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd.  
(System Parts)

Atsugi Plant, 260-53, Yanagi-Machi Hase 
JP-Atsugi City, Kanagawa 243-0036

Phone +81 (0)46 248 4441 
Fax +81 (0)46 247 2008

feintool@feintool.co.jp 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Japan Co., Ltd.  
(System Parts)

Tokoname Plant, 178, Ikeda Aza Kume 
JP-Tokoname City,  Aichi 479-0002

Phone +81 (0)569 44 0400 
Fax +81 (0)569 44 0435

feintool@feintool.co.jp 
www.feintool.com

Feintool Precision System Parts 
Taicang Co., Ltd.

No 15 Qingdao East Road 
CN-Taicang; Jiangzu Province

Phone +86 (0)512 5351 5186 
Fax +86 (0)512 5351 5432

www.feintool.com

Feintool Beijing Office, Swisstec Hua Qiao Gong Yu 2-43  
Hua Yuan Cun, Xi Jiao 
CN-Beijing 100044

Phone +86 (0)10 6841 84 47 
Fax +86 (0)10 6841 28 69

swisstec@public.bta.net.cn 
www.feintool.com
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Glossary 

Artemis Beteiligungen III AG – consolidated group 
company controlled by Franke Artemis Holding/ 
Michael Pieper, which launched a takeover bid for 
Feintool International Holding AG on 31 January 2011 
and as a result acquired a majority share of 81.2% in 
Feintool as of 7 April 2011.

Carbon Disclosure Project – a not-for-profit organi-
zation which aims to create greater transparency as 
regards climate-changing greenhouse gas emissions; 
it acts on behalf of investors by annually collecting 
data and information on CO2 emissions and climate 
hazards and risks, as well as reduction targets and 
strategies of the companies taking part on a voluntary 
basis; it also manages the biggest database of its kind 
in the world.

Cash Flow/Drain – periodic cash surplus/shortfall 
from operations; an indicator of the financial power of 
a company.

Earnings per share (EPS) – annual profit divided by 
the total number of shares.

EBIT – (earnings before interest and taxes) – a com-
pany’s operating profit before deduction of  
interest and taxes.
 
EBIT margin – the ratio of EBIT to sales.

EBITDA – (engl. Earnings Before Interests, Taxes, De-
preciation and Amortization) – a company’s earnings 
before taking account of these items; one of the most 
meaningful indicators of profitability.

EBITDA margin – the ratio of EBITDA to sales.

Equity ratio – ratio of shareholders’ equity to total 
assets; key indicator of the financial stability of a 
company.

Fineblanking – manufacturing process involving the 
chipless separation and, as an option, the simultane-
ous forming of metal. 

Fineblanking oil – liquid with special lubricating and 
cooling properties that has a positive influence on the 
part and the active elements of the tool during the 
blanking/forming process.

Forming – umbrella term for manufacturing process-
es in which metals – and also thermoplastics such as 
PTFE – are moulded into different shapes.

Free Cash Flow – the operating cash flow less the 
cash flow from investment activities; shows how much 
money will be available for shareholder dividends and/
or for paying back third-party loans.

Freefloat – percentage of the shares in a company 
that can be freely traded on the stock exchange. 

“Health first” project – Switzerland-wide campaign 
aimed at protecting the health of the workforce which 
is supported by pharmacies and includes regular tips 
and giveaways.

HFA – hydraulic fineblanking machine/press (German: 
Hydraulischer Feinschneidautomat)

HFA LT – hydraulic fineblanking machine/press with 
an extended working area (long table) for the most 
complex components.
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IAS – International Accounting Standards; part of 
IFRS.

IFrIC – International Financial Reporting Interpre-
tations Committee; the interpretative body of the 
International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) 
Foundation that has the task of publishing IFRS/IAS 
interpretations if it becomes evident that a standard 
can be interpreted falsely, or in various ways.

IFrS – International Financial Reporting Standards.

IHS Global Insight – the world’s largest economics 
organization providing comprehensive economic and 
financial information on countries, regions and indus-
tries such as the automotive sector, using a unique 
combination of expertise, macroeconomic models, 
data and software within a common analytical frame-
work to support planning and decision-making. 

IMA – “Industrie Maschinenbau Amberg” (now IMA 
Automation) – name of the assembly systems unit of 
the Automation segment; main site in Amberg (Ger-
many), branch in Berlin (Germany).  

networking capital (nWC) – amount by which a com-
pany‘s current assets exceed its current liabilities.

Overall Equipment Effectiveness (OEE) – a com-
prehensive production parameter which combines 
availability, machine performance and quality, and 
thus serves to evaluate the manufacturing plant.

Photovoltaics – direct conversion of sunlight into 
electrical energy using solar cells.    

Promera Jena/Ettlingen – production locations for 
fineblanked parts in the Feintool System Parts seg-
ment.  

Stroke rate – the number of strokes completed by a 
fineblanking press in one minute.

SWISSTEC – name given to the joint market presence 
of several Swiss companies in China.

Technology Centre – Feintool facility at which the 
entire fineblanking process takes place, from research 
and development, to engineering and through to tool 
production, testing and approval.   

xFT press series – Feintool’s latest generation of 
mechanical presses, offering greatly increased ef-
ficiency and flexibility.
 
xTrA press series – range of hydraulic presses with 
servo drives.
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